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To our stakeholders:
During 2002, Cognizant continued to achieve record financial and operational results, re-asserting our company’s position as a leader in the highgrowth offshore IT services industry.

Revenue

Operating
Income

(in thousands)

(in thousands)
$229,086

$45,198

$177,778

$35,620

$137,031

$26,128

$88,904
$58,606

$16,645
$8,918

98 99 00 01 02

98 99 00 01 02

Employees

Shareholders’
Equity
(in thousands)
$165,481

6,168

$98,792

3,926
3,164

$66,116
$45,461
$32,616

98 99 00 01 02

2,220
1,560

98 99 00 01 02

With a deep understanding of the needs of the clients we serve and the
industries in which we operate, Cognizant has advanced the advantage of
offshore by enabling larger organizations to achieve greater bottom-line
and strategic business benefits from their information technology assets.
The range and depth of our vertically oriented expertise; our ability to
lead clients through change programs that deliver bottom-line results; our
ability to quickly ramp up huge teams of top IT professionals; and the
quality, speed and cost-effectiveness of our work have made Cognizant
the onsite/offshore partner of choice for a growing number of Fortune
1000 companies.
4th Generation: Advancing the Advantage of Deeper Partnerships
Consistent with our reputation of staying ahead of the curve both technologically and by maintaining a powerful client-focused corporate culture,
Cognizant has pioneered the 4th Generation services model. This partnership-centric model gives Cognizant a distinct competitive advantage in the
offshore outsourcing industry. In this new age of offshore, the top management of industry-leading companies is driving larger, more important
offshore initiatives, and they are interested only in strategic partners with
proven capabilities. Because the stakes are much higher now – with
relationships beginning with more strategically central work and quickly
ramping up to annual run rates of $5 million to $30 million or more –
these companies want top-quality providers that are able to deliver multimillion dollar savings fast by quickly moving large volumes of work offshore while driving complex IT and business transformation. Cognizant is
one of only a few offshore providers with a proven track record of meeting
these demands with stellar results.
(cont’d)
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Cognizant’s vertical expertise, domain and client knowledge, and top position as an IT and MBA
recruiter bolster its ability to support and build business applications that provide meaningful
change, supporting our clients’ top- and bottom-line growth objectives. Unlike the traditional
outsourcing model, our 4th Generation model is flexible and relationship driven, rather than
driven by a contract or discrete project. This means that Cognizant acts as a strategic partner,
extending and leveraging the strength of the client organization. Unlike most of its offshore
competitors, Cognizant makes large investments in client partners, executive management, project heads and practice leaders who are located close to clients in the U.S. and Europe and who
are empowered to make key decisions, greatly enhancing our responsiveness and the speed of
decision making. Moreover, clients commend Cognizant’s unique, people-centric, non-hierarchical, global business culture and “can-do” spirit. The extensive U.S. and European experience
of our management in India and our proven soft-skills programs bridge the cultural divide
between our clients and our offshore team members to achieve seamless integration, maximum
efficiency and outstanding results.
Cognizant’s Financial Advantage
The broad market acceptance of offshore in key industries and the success of our 4th Generation
services model – which we believe has only just begun to tap its potential – both contributed
significantly to Cognizant’s growth in 2002. We signed 16 new strategic clients in 2002.
Strategic clients are those with the potential to achieve an annual run rate of $5 million to $30
million or more. In addition, we expanded our relationship with many of our established clients.
The Four Generations of
Offshore Outsourcing

1st Generation

S TAFFING

•Recruit offshore, staff on client’s site
•Little cost or value impact
2nd Generation

OFFSHORE CODE FACTORY

•No local client interface
•Limited to well-defined projects
•Communication and quality issues
3rd Generation

ONSITE/OFFSHORE

•Integrated onsite/offshore teams
•Integrated processes, networks and tools
•High-quality for a wide range of projects
4th Generation

COGNIZANT’S ONSITE/OFFSHORE

•Business results focused
•Client partnership oriented
•Help client perform while transforming
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The effects on our financial results were significant. Revenue grew 29 percent to $229.1 million
for 2002 from $177.8 million for 2001. More than 80 percent of our revenue came from established clients that have been with Cognizant for at least a year. Net income (on a U.S. GAAP
basis) for 2002 increased 56 percent to $34.6 million, or $0.54 per diluted share (post-split),
from $22.1 million, or $0.36 per diluted share (post-split), for 2001. Pro forma earnings, which
exclude $1.7 million in transaction costs related to the IMS Health exchange offer in 2002
(explained below), and a $2.0 million impairment loss on our investment in Questra Corporation

Cognizant’s vertical expertise, domain and
client knowledge, and top position as an IT and
Cognizant completed 2002 with no debt, $126 million in MBA recruiter bolster our ability to support and
cash and a 68 percent year-over-year increase in stockholders’ equity. build business applications that provide
In addition to our strong cash position, Cognizant’s decision in
meaningful change, supporting our clients’
2002 to no longer repatriate money from India to the United States
top- and bottom-line growth objectives.
in 2001, rose to $0.57 per diluted share (post-split) for 2002 from
$0.38 per diluted share (post-split) for 2001. Moreover,

bolsters our company’s ability to invest in growth initiatives.
During the fourth quarter of 2002, plans were announced to distribute IMS’ majority interest in
Cognizant. This distribution was completed after the close of the year – in February 2003 –
through a “split-off” exchange offer that provided IMS shareholders with the opportunity to
exchange some or all of their shares of IMS stock for shares of Cognizant Class B common stock
held by IMS, which owned 33.9 million shares (post-split), or about 55 percent of the outstanding shares of Cognizant. All of the Cognizant shares were distributed by IMS, substantially
broadening our investor base, increasing liquidity in the stock and enabling us to operate as a
fully independent company.
Our accomplishments have also garnered recognition outside of the realm of our prospective and
established clients and shareholders. Cognizant was the top-ranked technology company on
Business Week’s 2002 list of Hot Growth Companies and Forbes’ 2002 Best Small Companies list,
and was ranked one of the top-performing stocks for the year on Personal Finance magazine’s
Bloomberg 100 list. Cognizant was also chosen as the top pure-play onsite/offshore company on
a newly created list of multinational software exporters by the National Association of Software
and Services Companies (NASSCOM), an 870-member organization for IT software and services
companies in India. In addition, Computerworld, one of America’s leading publications for IT
executives, selected two Cognizant clients – DFS Group and Mercury Insurance – as Premier 100
IT Leaders. This award honors their creative application of technology in the execution of their
business plans – projects in which Cognizant played a significant role. Collectively, this recognition re-confirms Cognizant’s reputation as a top-tier company in its peer group.
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Advancing Cognizant’s Future Advantage
By continuing to invest in client relationships, powerful new services, processes and methodologies, and other promising growth opportunities, we are working to ensure Cognizant’s future
success. To that end, we have continued to invest for growth pragmatically – in strategies that
have proven successful for our company in the past and in new initiatives that we believe will
give Cognizant an even greater competitive advantage for the future.
Cognizant took a number of steps in 2002 to provide its clients with a greater selection of higher-value services and world-class processes and methodologies. We offer a full range of largescale application management and transformation services, including portfolio analysis, rationalization and consolidation, change management, program management and transformational
outsourcing. The new Portfolio Analysis and Rationalization Service helps clients cut costs,
streamline processes, and boost system performance and throughput by eliminating system
redundancies and rationalizing their application portfolios and IT organizations. Using these
services, Cognizant is able to provide performance improvements and cost savings that signifi-

By continuing to invest in client interface, cantly exceed the advantages typically provided by other offshore
increasingly powerful new services, processes and vendors. Our Enterprise Consulting Practice continmethodologies, and other promising growth ued to attract new business during 2002 as more and more
opportunities, we are working to ensure industry-leading companies sought to improve their business perCognizant’s future success. formance with large-scale, strategic business-application projects. The Enterprise Consulting
Practice offers technology strategy and architecture consulting; e-business; data warehousing;
Customer Relationship Management (CRM); Enterprise Resource Planning (ERP); and a number
of other strategic technology competencies. Our Industrialization Service ensures that clients
get robust, scaleable systems that perform superbly in the most demanding real-world deployments. Cognizant is completely focused on the needs of business end-users who want to drastically cut IT costs while transforming their IT portfolio. Unlike many other offshore providers, we
have not distracted our focus by pursuing other businesses – such as telecommunications R&D –

Revenue Distribution
information
services
healthcare
services

14%

that have no relevance to CIOs and business end-users. And our expertise runs deep: For example, Cognizant has developed a comprehensive set of services for the financial and healthcare
other

industries – two of our key verticals – and we continue to expand these offerings. In addition,
we’ve taken the initial steps toward adding Business Process Outsourcing capabilities that can

7%

directly impact our clients’ business performance by dramatically improving cost structure and
quality.

24%
20%

retail, manufacturing
and logistics

35%
financial-related
services
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Wijeyaraj Mahadeva
Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer

Lakshmi Narayanan
President and
Chief Operating Officer

To strengthen our service capabilities for global clients and
companies in Europe – a market that we believe is ripe for
offshore growth – Cognizant acquired a near-shore development facility in Ireland during 2002. An important step in
our international expansion strategy, this facility also
allows us to better serve the multi-time zone requirements
of many of our large North American clients and to further
solidify the business continuity and disaster recovery
options available to our global clients.
We also opened two out of three of our newly built technocomplexes in Calcutta and Pune during 2002. These state-of-the-art facilities are company owned, ultimately reducing Cognizant’s
per-square-foot occupancy expense in India by more than 50 percent.
For 2003 and beyond, Cognizant’s prospects appear extremely bright. We are continuing to
deepen our relationships with our established clients, and our pipeline for new business remains
robust. The mainstream acceptance of offshore in strategic IT initiatives has generated unprecedented momentum in the marketplace. Giga Research predicts that offshore outsourcing will
grow at 25 percent annually. Moreover, Europe seems poised for the next wave of offshore
growth, and Cognizant is well positioned to lead the offshore revolution for companies in the
U.K. and Continental Europe.
We are grateful to our clients for allowing us to prove our value to them, to our shareholders for
sharing and supporting our vision for this company, and to our amazing employees, whose dedication to achieving the best results for our clients never wavers. Together, we are advancing the
advantages of offshore, advancing Cognizant’s advantage in the offshore industry and enhancing the ability of companies throughout the world to compete on a higher level.
Sincerely,

Wijeyaraj Mahadeva

Lakshmi Narayanan

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

President and Chief Operating Officer
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Cognizant People Power
Cognizant has more “people power” than any

A number of factors contribute to the organi-

other company in the industry, enabling us to

zational success of our people processes and

consistently attract and retain IT and MBA

practices. First, we recruit the top IT talent

talent and strategic clients. During 2002,

from India’s leading academic institutions.

Cognizant became the first company to be

Our long-standing relationship with these

independently assessed at Level 5 – the high-

institutions and our “Employer of Choice”

est level – of the People Capabilities Maturity

standing gives us the ability to ramp up fast

Model (P-CMM) version 2.0 across all of its

with the best people to meet the growing

key development centers in India. The P-CMM

demand for our services. The most innovative

framework, developed by the Software

thinkers in the industry – the IT elite – are
drawn to Cognizant because it is an organization dedicated to encouraging innovation and
providing an environment that is challenging,
non-hierarchical and entrepreneurial. This
environment is a product of Cognizant’s
unique global business culture, which combines the best of the U.S., Europe and Asia –
as opposed to most IT services companies,
which lack the experience needed to successfully drive a unified global culture.

Engineering Institute at Carnegie Mellon

Innovative, challenging,
non-hierarchical and
entrepreneurial –
Cognizant’s unique global
business culture draws
the industry’s IT elite.
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University, rates the organizational maturity

To ensure our ability to operate as a seamless

of people processes and practices. The Level 5

extension of our clients’ organizations,

assessment of Cognizant confirms the success

Cognizant trains its associates at The

of our best-in-class practices for attracting,

Cognizant Academy, our in-house corporate

developing, motivating, organizing and

university, to develop not only their technical

retaining talent.

expertise, but also their management, leadership and cross-cultural skills. Our ability to

successfully teach soft skills and infuse

that fosters corporate pride and delivers

Cognizant’s unique culture into our associ-

inspired results. Our onsite and offshore

ates’ work – despite the rapid growth of our

teams become an integral part of our clients’

organization – gives us an important strategic

IT departments and significantly enhance

advantage. It makes offshore easier to use

their strategic effectiveness. Their value to

than ever before, increasing the overall effec-

the client organization increases over time as

tiveness and further improving the long-term

they become fully acquainted not only with

prospects of our global company.

their systems and IT goals, but also with their
business goals and the requirements of the

In line with our relationship-driven model,

industries in which our clients operate.

Cognizant associates focus first and foremost

Cognizant’s people are very proactive about

on generating outstanding results for our

recommending ways for clients to operate

clients and providing them with an incompa-

more competitively and execute both their

rable level of service. Working in tightly knit

ideas and the clients’ initiatives with the type

teams, Cognizant associates are empowered to

of speed and world-class quality that really

create and execute new and better ways of

drives return on investment.

serving the strategic needs of our industryleading clients. It is an inspiring atmosphere
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The Ramp Up: Rapid Response
to the Demand for Offshore
Traditionally, service companies spent many

The arrangement between Cognizant and

years building up their largest relationships.

MetLife, a leading provider of insurance and

However, with the rapid mainstream accept-

other financial services, illustrates

ance of international vendors, the process of

Cognizant’s responsiveness and success at

relationship building is now dramatically

maximizing the IT and business benefits of

accelerated, with clients willing to commit to

large-scale offshore initiatives for its indus-

large, complex and strategically important

try-leading clients.

initiatives at the onset of, or only a few
months into, the relationship. As Cognizant

When the relationship began, MetLife was new

has ascended the value chain and dramatical-

to offshore. Cognizant met with MetLife’s

ly expanded its capacity to achieve large-scale

management to discuss the offshore process

business transformations, it has distinguished

and guide them in the selection of appropri-

itself as one of only a few companies in the

ate applications. Unlike other offshore

industry able to ramp up quickly with top IT

providers, Cognizant works closely with its

talent to deliver stellar results at significant

customers in leading change and delivering

cost savings.

business value, rather than passively executing projects. Cognizant’s well-honed processes
for offshore knowledge transfer and change

management ensured that MetLife would
enjoy a successful and high-speed ramp up
resulting in substantial cost savings. In addition, Cognizant’s metrics-based approach to
applications management, using Cognizant’s
proprietary tools for managing onsite/offshore teams (including e-Cockpit, e-metrics,
Q-View and Issue Tracker), has resulted in
continuous process improvements and further
savings.

“Working as an extension of our own highly competent IT staff,
Cognizant advances MetLife’s competitive advantage. The efficiency and efficacy of Cognizant’s processes and methodologies
and their ability to ramp up quickly have enabled us to accomplish important strategic goals in much less time, at much lower
cost and with high quality results. Our first and largest offshore
provider, Cognizant knows how to do offshore right. Cognizant’s
extensive experience with the insurance and financial services
industry, wide-ranging technological capabilities and innovative
solutions have provided MetLife with some of the best IT services
that offshore has to offer.”
Dan Cavanagh
Chief Information Officer
MetLife

Since mid-2001, the relationship between
MetLife and Cognizant has grown exponentially in both size and importance – from eight
Cognizant associates in June, 2001 working
on a single maintenance project to about 400
Cognizant associates working with MetLife on
five dozen engagements, which include a
variety of initiatives focused on helping
MetLife cut costs, meet its business objectives
and align its business and technology
processes and practices.

Accelerated demand,
rapid response. In less
than two years, Cognizant
has ramped up from eight
MetLife-dedicated associates to about 400.
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Delivering Quality and
Value-Added Services

Strategic advantages.
Cognizant’s 4th generation
model delivers top-quality
results, bottom-line benefits and more.

“Our relationship with Cognizant is extremely valuable to DFS
Group, providing our company with a huge strategic advantage.
Its easy-to-use 4th Generation model and partnership-centric
focus make Cognizant extremely agile at staying closely aligned
with our goals and priorities. With strong business ethics, an
exceptional talent-management system and unwavering integrity,
Cognizant functions as a seamless extension of our own IT teams,
delivering the highest quality results to DFS and helping us get
the most mileage from our IT budget. Without this elite organization, DFS could never have afforded to establish what is now a
world-class IT operation. And
with the money we have saved
as a result of Cognizant’s work,
we’ve been able to invest millions of dollars in value-added
projects.”
Ron Glickman
Chief Information Officer
DFS Group
Members of the DFS team.
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As Cognizant has ascended the value chain

service to find further opportunities to reduce

accomplish this ambitious initiative, DFS was

and dramatically expanded its capacity to

cost and improve performance. Cognizant

recently named a Premier 100 IT Leader by

achieve large-scale business transformations,

helped DFS Group combine nine regional IT

Computerworld, one of America’s leading pub-

its ability to deliver top-quality results with

organizations into one. This enabled DFS, the

lications for IT executives.

impressive speed and at significant cost sav-

duty-free shopping division of global luxury-

ings has become a key differentiator for the

goods retailer LVMH, to achieve important

In a relatively short period of time, the part-

company. To ensure that enterprises seeking

strategic business objectives and effect radi-

nership between Cognizant and DFS has grown

to effect radical change reap the maximum

cal change during a critical time – post-9/11,

significantly, fueled by confidence that has

benefits possible from their offshore initia-

when waning sales magnified financial risk.

been earned incrementally through hard work

tives, Cognizant uses its own highly effective

Cognizant is now working with DFS to help

and proven results. Nearly 100 Cognizant

methodology that allows “Performing While

transform and enhance its core applications

associates are currently engaged by DFS to

Transforming.”

to build competitive advantage. Cognizant’s

support its financial, human-resources and

work has surpassed DFS’ qualitative and

merchandising systems; to replace its internal

Cognizant started at DFS by “performing” to

quantitative expectations, resulting in vast

and external Web sites, improving the techni-

help keep the business running while quickly

improvements in IT productivity, systems qual-

cal architecture, site performance, navigation

moving work offshore. Then Cognizant used

ity and speed, technological capability and

and content-management processes; and to

the Portfolio Analysis and Rationalization

support, as well as significant cost savings.

perform various infrastructure tasks.

In recognition of the business acumen and
unique leadership capabilities required to
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations

GENERAL
Cognizant is a leading provider of custom IT design, development, integration and maintenance services primarily for Fortune 1000 companies located in the United States and Europe. Cognizant’s core competencies include
web-centric applications, data warehousing, component-based development and legacy and client-server systems. Cognizant provides the IT services it offers using an integrated onsite/offshore business model. This
seamless onsite/offshore business model combines technical and account
management teams located onsite at the customer location and offshore
at dedicated development centers located in India and Ireland. Cognizant
began its IT development and maintenance services business in early
1994, as an in-house technology development center for The Dun &
Bradstreet Corporation and its operating units. In 1996, Cognizant, along
with certain other entities, was spun-off from the Dun & Bradstreet
Corporation to form a new company, Cognizant Corporation. On June 24,
1998, Cognizant completed its initial public offering. On June 30, 1998, a
majority interest in Cognizant, and certain other entities were spun-off
from Cognizant Corporation to form IMS Health Incorporated (“IMS
Health”). Subsequently, Cognizant Corporation was renamed Nielsen Media
Research, Incorporated. At December 31, 2002, IMS Health owned 55.3%
of the outstanding stock of Cognizant (representing all of Cognizant's
Class B common stock) and held 92.5% of the combined voting power of
Cognizant’s common stock. Holders of Cognizant’s Class A common stock
have one vote per share and holders of Cognizant’s Class B common stock
have ten votes per share.
On June 30, 2002, the Company acquired the assets of UHCI, a subsidiary
of UnitedHealth Group. UHCI previously provided, and will continue to
provide through CTS Ireland, application development and maintenance
services, using the existing staff of approximately 70 software professionals. This acquisition is designed to enable the Company to provide a wide
range of services to the Company’s clients in Europe and worldwide and
represents the initial implementation of the Company’s previously
announced international expansion strategy.
Additionally, on October 29, 2002, the Company completed the transfer of
Silverline Technologies, Inc.’s practice, which serviced a major financial
services company to the Company. Under the terms of the transfer, the
Company will provide application design, development and maintenance
services to such major financial services company through an acquired
workforce of approximately three hundred IT and support professionals
located primarily in the United States and India.
On February 13, 2003, IMS Health distributed all of the Cognizant Class B
common stock that IMS Health owned (a total of 33,872,700 shares) in an
exchange offer to its stockholders. IMS Health distributed 0.927 shares of
Cognizant Class B common stock to its stockholders for every one share of
IMS Health’s common stock tendered. There was no impact on the number
of Cognizant’s total shares of common stock outstanding as a result of the
completion of the exchange offer. As a direct result of the IMS Health
exchange offer Cognizant has incurred charges in the fourth quarter of
2002 of $1.7 million and expects total charges aggregating approximately

$3.5 million. Such charges primarily relate to direct and incremental legal,
accounting, printing and other costs. In addition, total estimated charges
include approximately $0.5 million of costs related to the retention and
acceleration of Cognizant stock options by two former Directors of
Cognizant who resigned on February 13, 2003 as a result of the split-off.
As of February 21, 2003, pursuant to the Company’s Restated Certificate
of Incorporation, all of the shares of Class B common stock converted into
shares of Class A common stock. Accordingly, as of such date, there are no
shares of Class B common stock outstanding.
The conversion of Class B common stock to Class A common stock has not
been reflected in the accompanying financial statements and all applicable references to the number of outstanding Class A and Class B common
stock, as well as IMS Health’s ownership interest have not been restated
to reflect the conversion of Class B common stock to Class A common
stock. Stockholders’ equity accounts will subsequently be restated to
reflect the exchange offer.
On March 5, 2003, the Board of Directors declared a 3-for-1 stock split
effected by a 200% stock dividend payable on April 1, 2003 to stockholders of record on March 19, 2003. The stock split has been reflected in the
accompanying financial statements, and all applicable references as to the
number of outstanding common shares and per share information have
been restated. Appropriate adjustments have been made in the exercise
price and number of shares subject to stock options. Stockholders’ equity
accounts have been restated to reflect the reclassification of an amount
equal to the par value of the increase in issued common shares from the
additional paid in capital account to the common stock accounts.
Critical Accounting Policies, Estimates and Risks
Financial Reporting Release No. 60 requires all companies to include a discussion of critical accounting policies or methods used in the preparation
of financial statements. Note 2 to the Consolidated Financial Statements
include a summary of the significant accounting policies and methods
used in the preparation of the Company’s Consolidated Financial
Statements. The following is a brief discussion of the more significant
accounting policies and methods used by the Company.
In addition, Financial Reporting Release No. 61 requires all companies to
includes a discussion to address, among other things, liquidity, off-balance sheet arrangements, contractual obligations and commercial commitments.
The Company’s discussion and analysis of its financial condition and
results of operations are based upon its consolidated financial statements,
which have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States. The preparation of financial statements
in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United
States requires management to make estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, including the recoverability of tangible and intangible assets, disclosure of contingent assets
and liabilities as of the date of the financial statements, and the reported
amounts of revenues and expenses during the reported period.
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On an on-going basis, the Company evaluates its estimates. The most significant estimates relate to the allowance for doubtful accounts, reserve
for warranties, reserves for employee benefits, income taxes, depreciation
of fixed assets and long-lived assets, contingencies and litigation and the
recognition of revenue and profits based on the percentage of completion
method of accounting for certain fixed-bid contracts. The Company bases
its estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions
that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of
which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The
actual amounts will differ from the estimates used in the preparation of
the accompanying financial statements.
Most of the Company’s IT development centers, including a substantial
majority of its employees are located in India. As a result, the Company
may be subject to certain risks associated with international operations,
including risks associated with foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations
and risks associated with the application and imposition of protective legislation and regulations relating to import and export or otherwise resulting from foreign policy or the variability of foreign economic conditions.
To date, the Company has not engaged in any hedging transactions to
mitigate its risks relating to exchange rate fluctuations. Additional risks
associated with international operations include difficulties in enforcing
intellectual property rights, the burdens of complying with a wide variety
of foreign laws, potentially adverse tax consequences, tariffs, quotas and
other barriers.
The Company believes the following critical accounting policies affect its
more significant judgments and estimates used in the preparation of its
consolidated financial statements:
Revenue Recognition. The Company’s services are entered into on either a
time-and-materials or fixed-price basis. Revenues related to time-andmaterial contracts are recognized as the service is performed. Revenues
related to fixed-price contracts that provide for application development
services or that provide for a combination of application development and
application management services are recognized as the service is performed using the percentage-of-completion method of accounting, under
which the sales value of performance is recognized on the basis of the
percentage that each contract's cost to date bears to the total estimated
cost. Revenues related to fixed-priced contracts that provide solely for
application management services are recognized on a straight-line basis or
as services are rendered or transactions processed in accordance with contract terms. Expenses are recorded as incurred over the contract period.
In November 2002, the Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) reached a consensus in EITF 00-21 “Revenue Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables”.
The consensus, which is effective for contracts entered into in fiscal periods beginning after June 15, 2003, requires that a Company evaluate all
deliverables in an arrangement to determine whether they represent separate units of accounting. That evaluation must be performed at the inception of the arrangement and as each item in the arrangement is delivered.
Arrangement consideration should be then allocated among the separate
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units of accounting based on their relative fair values. EITF 00-21 indicates
that the best evidence of fair value is the price of a deliverable when it is
regularly sold on a stand-alone basis. Fair value evidence often consists of
entity-specific or vendor-specific objective evidence of fair value.
The Company enters into contracts that could be considered arrangements
with multiple deliverables. These contracts are primarily long-term fixedbid contracts that provide both application maintenance and application
development services. As indicated above and in Note 2 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements, the Company accounts for such
contracts using percentage of completion accounting. The Company is
currently evaluating the prospective impact of EITF 00-21 on the
Company’s results of operations related to contracts entered into after
June 15, 2003.
Fixed-price contracts are cancelable subject to a specified notice period.
All services provided by the Company through the date of cancellation are
due and payable under the contract terms. The Company issues invoices
related to fixed price contracts based upon achievement of milestones
during a project or other contractual terms. Differences between the timing of billings, based upon contract milestones or other contractual terms,
and the recognition of revenue, based upon the percentage-of-completion
method of accounting, are recognized as either unbilled or deferred revenue. Estimates are subject to adjustment as a project progresses to
reflect changes in expected completion costs. The cumulative impact of
any revision in estimates is reflected in the financial reporting period in
which the change in estimate becomes known and any anticipated losses
on contracts are recognized immediately. A reserve for warranty provisions
under such contracts, which generally exist for ninety days past contract
completion, is estimated and accrued during the contract period.
Revenues related to services performed without a signed agreement or
work order are not recognized until there is evidence of an arrangement,
such as when agreements or work orders are signed or payment is
received; however the cost related to the performance of such work is
recognized in the period the services are rendered. Such revenue is recognized when, and if, evidence of an arrangement is obtained,
Foreign Currency Translation. The assets and liabilities of the Company’s
Canadian and European subsidiaries are translated into U.S. dollars from
local currencies at current exchange rates and revenues and expenses are
translated from local currencies at average monthly exchange rates. The
resulting translation adjustments are recorded in a separate component of
stockholders’ equity. For the Company’s Indian subsidiary (“CTS India”),
the functional currency is the U.S. dollar, since its sales are made primarily
in the United States, the sales price is predominantly in U.S. dollars and
there is a high volume of intercompany transactions denominated in U.S.
dollars between CTS India and its U.S. affiliates. Non-monetary assets and
liabilities are translated at historical exchange rates, while monetary
assets and liabilities are translated at current exchange rates. The resulting gain (loss) is included in other income.
Allowance for Doubtful Accounts. The Company maintains allowances for
doubtful accounts for estimated losses resulting from the inability of its
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customers to make required payments. The allowance for doubtful
accounts is determined by evaluating the relative credit-worthiness of
each customer based upon market capitalization and other information,
including the aging of the receivables. If the financial condition of the
Company’s customers were to deteriorate, resulting in an impairment of
their ability to make payments, additional allowances may be required.
Income Taxes. The Company records a valuation allowance to reduce its
deferred tax assets to the amount that is more likely than not to be realized. While the Company has considered future taxable income and ongoing prudent and feasible tax planning strategies in assessing the need
for the valuation allowance, in the event the Company were to determine
that it would be able to realize its deferred tax assets in the future in
excess of its net recorded amount, an adjustment to the deferred tax asset
would increase income in the period such determination was made.
Likewise, should the Company determine that it would not be able to realize all or part of its net deferred tax asset in the future, an adjustment to
the deferred tax asset would be charged to income or equity (if the
deferred tax asset is related to tax benefits from stock option benefits
that have not been realized) in the period such determination was made.
Cognizant’s Indian subsidiary, CTS India, is an export-oriented company,
which, under the Indian Income Tax Act of 1961 is entitled to claim tax
holidays for a period of ten years with respect to its export profits.
Substantially all of the earnings of CTS India are attributable to export
profits and are therefore currently entitled to a 90% exemption from
Indian income tax. These tax holidays will begin to expire in 2004 and
under current law will be completely phased out by March of 2009. Prior to
2002, it was management's intent to repatriate all accumulated earnings
from India to the United States; accordingly, Cognizant has provided
deferred income taxes in the amount of approximately $24.9 million on all
such undistributed earnings through December 31, 2001. During the first
quarter of 2002, Cognizant made a strategic decision to pursue an international strategy that includes expanded infrastructure investments in
India and geographic expansion in Europe and Asia. As a component of
this strategy, Cognizant intends to use 2002 and future Indian earnings to
expand operations outside of the United States instead of repatriating
these earnings to the United States. Accordingly, effective January 1,
2002, pursuant to Accounting Principles Bulletin 23, Cognizant will no
longer accrue taxes on the repatriation of earnings recognized in 2002
and subsequent periods as these earnings are considered to be indefinitely reinvested outside of the United States. As of December 31, 2002, the
amount of unrepatriated earnings upon which no provision for taxation
has been recorded is approximately $30.1 million. If such earnings are
repatriated in the future, or are no longer deemed to be indefinitely reinvested, Cognizant will accrue the applicable amount of taxes associated
with such earnings. Due to the various methods by which such earnings
could be repatriated in the future, it is not currently practicable to determine the amount of applicable taxes that would result from such
repatriation.

This change in intent, as well as a change in the manner in which repatriated earnings are taxed in India, resulted in an estimated effective tax
rate for the year ended December 31, 2002 of 23.4%. This rate compares
to an effective tax rate for the year ended December 31, 2001 of 37.4%.
Effective April 1, 2002, the government of India passed various tax law
changes which affected the way in which the Company’s earnings are
taxed in India. The tax exemption for export earnings was reduced from
100% to 90%, a surtax was imposed increasing the effective rate from
35.7% to 36.75% for income that is subject to tax, and the corporate level
tax on the payment of dividends was replaced with a withholding tax on
dividends.
Cognizant’s cash requirements could change over time, which could effectively force it to change its intent on repatriating Indian earnings. If
Cognizant’s earnings are intended to be repatriated in the future, or are
no longer reinvested outside the United States, Cognizant will have to
accrue the applicable amount of taxes associated with such earnings and
pay taxes at a substantially higher rate than the effective rate in 2002.
These increased taxes could have a material adverse effect on Cognizant’s
business, results of operations and financial condition, as well as cash
flows to fund such taxes. In addition, Cognizant may need to accelerate
the payment of significant deferred taxes, which would have a significant
impact on its cash position.
Goodwill and Other Intangibles. Prior to 2002, goodwill, which related to
the acquisition of the former minority interest in the Company’s Indian
subsidiary, was amortized using the straight-line basis over a period of
seven years. Effective January 1, 2002, in accordance with Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 142 “Goodwill and Other
Intangible Assets” (“FAS 142”), the Company is no longer amortizing its
remaining goodwill balance; however, at each balance date, the Company
does evaluate goodwill and other intangible assets for impairment at least
annually, or as circumstances warrant. If such assets were determined to
be impaired, it could have a material adverse effect on Cognizant’s business, results of operations and financial condition.
Long-lived Assets. In accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards (“SFAS”) No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal
of Long-Lived Assets”, which was adopted in 2002, the Company reviews
for impairment long-lived assets and certain identifiable intangibles
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount of an asset may not be recoverable. In general, the Company will
recognize an impairment loss when the sum of undiscounted expected
future cash flows is less than the carrying amount of such assets. The
measurement for such an impairment loss is then based on the fair value
of the asset.
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R E S U LT S O F O P E R AT I O N S
The following table sets forth for the periods indicated certain financial
data expressed as a percentage of total revenue:
Year ended December 31,
2000

Total revenues
Cost of revenues
Gross profit
Selling, general and
administrative expenses
Depreciation and amortization expense
Income from operations
Other income (expense):
Interest income
Split-off costs
Impairment loss on Investment
Other income / (expense)
Total other income / (expense)
Income before provision for income taxes
Provision for income taxes
Net income

100.0%
51.4
48.6

2001

2002

100.0% 100.0%
51.1
53.6
48.9
46.4

26.2
3.3
19.1

25.3
3.6
20.0

23.3
3.4
19.7

1.9
–
–
(0.4)
1.5
20.6
(7.7)
12.9%

1.4
–
(1.1)
(0.4)
(0.1)
19.9
(7.4)
12.5%

0.8
(0.7)
–
(0.1)
–
19.7
(4.6)
15.1%

Year Ended December 31, 2002 Compared to Year
Ended December 31, 2001
Revenue. Revenue increased by 28.9%, or approximately $51.3 million,
from approximately $177.8 million during 2001 to approximately $229.1
million in 2002. This increase resulted primarily from an increase in application management and application development and integration services.
The Company provides services through time and materials (“T&M”) and
fixed-bid contracts. Over the course of the last three years revenues
recognized under fixed-bid contracts have increased as a percent of total
revenues from 15.1% in 2000 to 23.9% in 2001 and 24.6% in 2002. This
increase is attributable primarily to increased demand for such services
due to the customer’s ability to specifically quantify project costs prior to
entering into contracts.
Sales to related parties on a year-over-year basis were 10.6% in 2001 compared to 8.9% in 2002. For statement of operations purposes, revenues
from related parties only include revenues recognized during the period in
which the related party was affiliated with the Company. During 2001 and
2002, no third party accounted for greater than 10% of revenues.
Gross profit. The Company’s cost of revenues consists primarily of the cost
of salaries, payroll taxes, benefits, immigration and travel for technical
personnel, and the cost of sales commissions related to revenues. The
Company's cost of revenues increased by 35.1%, or approximately $31.9
million, from approximately $90.8 million during 2001 to approximately
$122.7 million in 2002. The increase was due primarily to the increased
cost resulting from the increase in the number of the Company’s technical
professionals from approximately 3,470 employees at December 31, 2001
to over 6,100 employees at December 31, 2002. The increased number of

16

technical professionals is a direct result of greater demand for the
Company’s services and on employees acquired through acquisitions. (See
Note 4 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.) The Company’s gross
profit increased by 22.4%, or approximately $19.5 million, from approximately $86.9 million during 2001 to approximately $106.4 million during
2002. Gross profit margin decreased from 48.9% of revenues during 2001
to 46.4% of revenues in 2002. The decrease in such gross profit margin
was primarily attributable to higher incentive compensation costs in 2002
as compared to 2001, due to the significantly increased performance of
the Company.
Selling, general and administrative expenses. Selling, general and
administrative expenses consist primarily of salaries, employee benefits,
travel, promotion, communications, management, finance, administrative
and occupancy costs. Selling, general and administrative expenses, including depreciation and amortization, increased by 19.2%, or approximately
$9.9 million, from approximately $51.3 million during 2001 to approximately $61.2 million during 2002, and decreased as a percentage of
revenue from approximately 28.9% to 26.7%, respectively. The increase in
such expenses in absolute dollars was due primarily to expenses incurred
to expand the Company’s sales and marketing activities and increased
infrastructure expenses to support the Company’s growth. The decrease
in such expenses as a percentage of revenue was due primarily to the
increased revenues that have resulted from the Company’s expanded sales
and marketing activities in the current and prior years.
Income from Operations. Income from operations increased 26.9%, or
approximately $9.6 million, from approximately $35.6 million during 2001
to approximately $45.2 million during 2002, representing approximately
20.0% and 19.7% of revenues, respectively. The decrease in operating
margin was due primarily to higher incentive compensation costs in 2002
as compared to 2001.
Other Income/Expense. Other income/expense consists primarily of interest income offset, by foreign currency exchange losses and, in 2001, an
impairment loss on an investment, and in 2002, split-off costs related to
the exchange offer in which IMS Health has offered to its stockholders to
exchange its holdings of the Company’s Class B common stock for shares
of IMS Health. Interest income decreased by approximately 27.7%, from
approximately $2.5 million during 2001 to approximately $1.8 million during 2002. The decrease in such interest income was attributable primarily
to lower interest rates, offset, in part, by higher operating cash balances.
The Company recognized a net foreign currency exchange loss of
approximately $767,000 during 2001 compared to an exchange loss of
approximately $235,000 during 2002, as a result of the effect of changing
exchange rates on the Company's transactions. The Company recognized
an impairment loss on its investment in Questra Corporation (“Questra”)
of approximately $2.0 million during the fourth quarter of 2001 in recognition of an other than temporary decline in value. The impairment loss
was based upon an implied valuation of Questra as a result of a recent new
round of venture capital funding in which the Company’s equity interest in
Questra was substantially diluted and investors, other than the Company,
received preferential liquidation rights. The impairment loss, net of tax
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benefit, was approximately $1.2 million, or $0.02 per diluted share. (See
Note 4 to the Consolidated Financial Statements). The Company recognized split-off costs of approximately $1.7 million, or $0.03 per diluted
share, in the fourth quarter of 2002 related to the exchange offer and
expects total charges aggregating approximately $3.5 million in relation
to one-time costs associated with the exchange offer. Such charges primarily relate to direct and incremental legal, accounting, printing and other
costs. In addition, total estimated charges include approximately $0.5 million of costs related to the retention and acceleration of Cognizant stock
options by two former Directors of Cognizant who resigned on February
13, 2003 as a result of the split-off. (See Note 13 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements.)

European Segment
Revenue. Revenue increased by 15.1%, or approximately $3.7 million,
from approximately $24.2 million during 2001 to approximately $27.9 million in 2002. The increase in revenue was attributable to the Company’s
sales and marketing activities in the United Kingdom, partially offset by
weak demand for the Company’s services elsewhere in Europe.

Provision for Income Taxes. The provision for income taxes decreased from
approximately $13.2 million in 2001 to approximately $10.5 million in
2002, with an effective tax rate of 37.4% in 2001 and 23.4% in 2002. The
lower effective tax rate reflects Cognizant’s change in its intention regarding the repatriation of 2002 and future earnings from its subsidiary in
India, as well as a change in the manner in which repatriated earnings are
taxed in India. (See Note 6 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.)

Asian Segment
Revenue. Revenue was essentially constant from 2001 to 2002 at approximately $1.6 million in each year.

Net Income. Net income increased from approximately $22.2 million in
2001 to approximately $34.6 million in 2002, representing approximately
12.5% and 15.1% as a percentage of revenues, respectively. The higher
percentage in 2002 primarily reflects the decrease in the effective tax rate
discussed above.

R E S U LT S BY B U S I N E S S S E G M E N T
The Company, operating globally, provides software services for medium
and large businesses. North American operations consist primarily of software services in the United States and Canada. European operations consist of software services principally in the United Kingdom. Asian operations consist of software services principally in India. The Company is managed on a geographic basis. Accordingly, regional sales managers, sales
managers, account managers, project teams and facilities are segmented
geographically and decisions by the Company’s chief operating decision
maker regarding the allocation of assets and assessment of performance
are based on such geographic segmentation. In this regard, revenues are
allocated to each geographic area based on the location of the customer.
North American Segment
Revenue. Revenue increased by 31.4%, or approximately $47.7 million,
from approximately $151.9 million during 2001 to approximately $199.6
million in 2002. The increase in revenue was attributable primarily to
increased market awareness and acceptance of the onsite/offshore software delivery model, as well as sales and marketing activities directed at
the U.S. market for the Company’s services.
Income from Operations. Income from operations increased 29.4%, or
approximately $8.9 million, from approximately $30.4 million during 2001
to approximately $39.4 million during 2002. The increase in operating
income was attributable primarily to increased revenues and achieving
leverage on prior sales and marketing investments.

Income from Operations. Income from operations increased 13.2%, or
approximately $0.6 million, from approximately $4.9 million during 2001
to approximately $5.5 million during 2002. The increase in operating
income was attributable primarily to increased revenues and achieving
leverage on prior sales and marketing investments.

Income from Operations. Income from operations was essentially constant
from 2001 to 2002 at approximately $0.3 million in each year.
Year Ended December 31, 2001 Compared to Year
Ended December 31, 2000
Revenue. Revenue increased by 29.7%, or approximately $40.7 million,
from approximately $137.0 million during 2000 to approximately $177.8
million in 2001. This increase resulted primarily from approximately a
$27.7 million (42.9%) increase in application management and approximately a $13.5 million (18.8%) increase in application development and
integration, partially offset by an approximately $0.5 million (100.0%)
decrease in Year 2000 compliance services. The Company provides services
through T&M and fixed-bid contracts. Over the course of the last three
years fixed-bid contracts have increased as a percent of revenues from
15.0% in 1999 to 15.1% in 2000 to 23.9% in 2001.
Sales to related parties on a year-over-year basis were relatively stable at
10.6% in 2001 compared to 10.4% in 2000. For statement of operations
purposes, revenues from related parties only include revenues recognized
during the period in which the related party was affiliated with the
Company. During 2001 and 2000, no third party accounted for greater
than 10% of revenues.
Gross profit. The Company’s cost of revenues consists primarily of the cost
of salaries, payroll taxes, benefits, immigration and travel for technical
personnel, and the cost of sales commissions related to revenues. The
Company’s cost of revenues increased by 29.0%, or approximately $20.4
million, from approximately $70.4 million during 2000 to approximately
$90.8 million in 2001. The increase was due primarily to the increased cost
resulting from the increase in the number of the Company’s technical professionals from approximately 2,800 employees at December 31, 2000 to
approximately 3,470 employees at December 31, 2001. The increased number of technical professionals is a direct result of greater demand for the
Company’s services. The Company’s gross profit increased by 30.5%, or
approximately $20.3 million, from approximately $66.6 million during
2000 to approximately $86.9 during 2001. Gross profit margin increased
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from 48.6% of revenues during 2000 to 48.9% of revenues in 2001. The
increase in such gross profit margin was primarily attributable to a continued shift toward higher margin fixed-bid contracts and a lower incentive
compensation accrual in 2001 as compared to 2000.

from approximately $10.6 million in 2000 to approximately $13.2 million
in 2001, with an effective tax rate of 37.4% in both years. The provision
for income taxes reflects the Company’s intent to repatriate earnings from
its Indian subsidiary.

Selling, general and administrative expenses. Selling, general and
administrative expenses consist primarily of salaries, employee benefits,
travel, promotion, communications, management, finance, administrative
and occupancy costs. Selling, general and administrative expenses, including depreciation and amortization, increased by 26.8%, or approximately
$10.8 million, from approximately $40.5 million during 2000 to approximately $51.3 million during 2001, and decreased as a percentage of
revenue from approximately 29.5% to 28.9%, respectively. The increase in
such expenses in absolute dollars was due primarily to expenses incurred
to expand the Company’s sales and marketing activities and increased
infrastructure expenses to support the Company’s growth. The decrease in
such expenses as a percentage of revenue was primarily due to the
increased revenues that have resulted from the Company’s expanded sales
and marketing activities in the current and prior years.

Net Income. Net income increased from approximately $17.7 million in
2000 to approximately $22.2 million in 2001, representing approximately
12.9% and 12.5% as a percentage of revenues, respectively. The lower
percentage in 2001 reflects the one-time write-off of the Company’s
investment in Questra, discussed previously.

Income from Operations. Income from operations increased 36.3%, or
approximately $9.5 million, from approximately $26.1 million during 2000
to approximately $35.6 million during 2001, representing approximately
19.1% and 20.0% of revenues, respectively. The increase in operating margin was primarily due to a continued shift toward higher margin fixed-bid
contracts and a lower incentive compensation accrual in 2001 as compared
to 2000.
Other Income/Expense. Other income/expense consists primarily of interest income offset, by foreign currency exchange losses and, in 2001, an
impairment loss on an investment. Interest income decreased by
approximately 5.6%, from approximately $2.6 million during 2000 to
approximately $2.5 million during 2001. The decrease in such interest
income was attributable primarily to lower interest rates, offset, in part,
by higher operating cash balances. The Company recognized a net foreign
currency exchange loss of approximately $767,000 during 2001, as a result
of the effect of changing exchange rates on the Company's transactions.
The Company recognized an impairment loss on its investment in Questra
of approximately $2.0 million during the fourth quarter of 2001 in recognition of an other than temporary decline in value. The impairment loss
was based upon an implied valuation of Questra as a result of a recent new
round of venture capital funding in which the Company’s equity interest in
Questra was substantially diluted and investors, other than the Company,
received preferential liquidation rights. The impairment loss, net of tax
benefit, was approximately $1.2 million or $0.02 per diluted share. (See
Note 4 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.)
Provision for Income Taxes. Historically, through the date of the IPO, the
Company had been included in the consolidated federal income tax
returns of The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation and Cognizant Corporation.
The Company’s provision for income taxes in the consolidated statements
of income reflects the federal and state income taxes calculated on the
Company’s stand-alone basis. The provision for income taxes increased
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North American Segment
Revenue. Revenue increased by 32.2%, or approximately $37.0 million,
from approximately $114.9 million during 2000 to approximately $151.9
million in 2001. The increase in revenue was attributable primarily to
increased market awareness and acceptance of the onsite/offshore software delivery model, as well as sales and marketing activities directed at
the U.S. market for the Company’s services.
Income from Operations. Income from operations increased 38.9%, or
approximately $8.5 million, from approximately $21.9 million during 2000
to approximately $30.4 million during 2001. The increase in operating
income was attributable primarily to increased revenues and achieving
leverage on prior sales and marketing investments.
European Segment
Revenue. Revenue increased by 15.6%, or approximately $3.3 million,
from approximately $21.0 million during 2000 to approximately $24.2 million in 2001. The increase in revenue was attributable to the Company’s
sales and marketing activities in the United Kingdom, partially offset by
weak demand for the Company’s services elsewhere in Europe.
Income from Operations. Income from operations increased 21.7%, or
approximately $0.9 million, from approximately $4.0 million during 2000
to approximately $4.9 million during 2001. The increase in operating
income was attributable primarily to increased revenues and achieving
leverage on prior sales and marketing investments.
Asian Segment
Revenue. Revenue increased by 42.5%, or approximately $0.5 million,
from approximately $1.1 million during 2000 to approximately $1.6 million
in 2001. The increase in revenue was attributable primarily to the
Company’s success in India providing software services to domestic Indian
companies as well as to Indian divisions of the Company’s multi-national
clients.
Income from Operations. Income from operations increased 50.5%, or
approximately $0.1 million, from approximately $0.2 million during 2000
to approximately $0.3 million during 2001. The increase in operating
income was attributable primarily to increased revenues.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources
At December 31, 2002, the Company had cash and cash equivalents of
approximately $126 million. The Company has used and plans to use such
cash for (i) expansion of existing operations, including its offshore software development centers; (ii) continued development of new service lines
and possible acquisitions of related businesses, and formation of joint
ventures; and (iii) general corporate purposes, including working capital.
Net cash provided by operating activities was approximately $56.7 million,
$32.1 million and $30.2 million for the years ended December 31, 2002,
2001 and 2000, respectively. The increase in 2002 as compared to the
prior year resulted primarily from increased net income, increased accrued
employee incentive payments, which resulted in higher levels of year-end
accrued liabilities, increased tax benefits related to stock plans, offset, in
part, by a greater increase in accounts receivable then the prior year. The
increase in 2001 as compared to 2000 results primarily from increased levels of accrued liabilities and accounts payable, increased net income and
an increase in deferred taxes, partially offset, by increases in accounts
receivable and other current assets.
Trade accounts receivable increased from approximately $20.5 million at
December 31, 2000 to approximately $22.5 million at December 31, 2001
and to approximately $36.7 million at December 31, 2002. Unbilled
accounts receivable increased from approximately $1.9 million at
December 31, 2000 and to approximately $5.4 million at December 31,
2001 and decreased to approximately $4.3 million at December 31, 2002.
The increase in trade accounts receivable during 2002 was due primarily to
increased revenue. The decrease in unbilled accounts receivable in 2002
compared to the prior year was primarily related to timing of fixed- bid
contractual billings. The Company monitors turnover, aging and the collection of accounts receivable through the use of management reports which
are prepared on a customer basis and evaluated by the Company’s finance
staff. At December 31, 2002, the Company’s day's sales outstanding,
including unbilled receivables, was approximately 56 days as compared
to 59 days and 50 days at December 31, 2001 and 2000, respectively.
The Company’s investing activities used net cash of approximately $35.5
million, $14.9 million and $12.6 million for the years ended December 31,
2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively. The increase in 2002 compared to
2001 primarily reflects the Company’s increased purchases of property and
equipment to expand the Company’s offshore development infrastructure
and the acquisitions of intangible assets related to UHCI and Silverline
Technologies, Inc. (See Note 4 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.)
The increase in 2001 of net cash used in investing activities as compared
to 2000 primarily reflects an increase in purchases of property and
equipment.
In June 2000, the Company announced a strategic relationship with
Trident Capital, a leading venture capital firm, to jointly invest in emerging e-business service and technology companies. In accordance with this
strategy, the Company invested approximately $2 million in Questra, an
e-business software and consulting firm headquartered in Rochester, New
York, in return for an initial 5.8% equity interest. Trident Capital also inde-

pendently made a direct investment in Questra. Based upon an implied
valuation of Questra as a result of a recent new round of venture capital
funding in which the Company’s equity interest in Questra was substantially diluted and investors, other than the Company, received preferential
liquidation rights, the Company recorded an impairment loss for the full
$2.0 million original investment in recognition of an other than temporary
impairment. The Company’s investment is being accounted for under the
cost basis of accounting. (See Note 4 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements.)
The Company’s financing activities provided net cash of approximately $20
million, $6 million, and $1.8 million for the years ended December 31,
2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively. The increase in each year was primarily
related to a higher level of cash proceeds from the exercise of stock
options and employee purchases of stock.
The Company believes that its available funds and the cash flows expected
to be generated from operations, will be adequate to satisfy its current
and planned operations and needs for at least the next 12 months. The
Company’s ability to expand and grow its business in accordance with current plans, to make acquisitions and form joint ventures and to meet its
long-term capital requirements beyond this 12-month period will depend
on many factors, including the rate, if any, at which its cash flow increases, its ability and willingness to accomplish acquisitions and joint ventures
with capital stock, its continued intent not to repatriate earnings from
India, its ability not to breach the Distribution Agreement, dated January
7, 2003, between the Company and IMS Health (the “Distribution
Agreement”), especially as it relates to tax indemnities and the availability
to the Company of public and private debt and equity financing. The
Company cannot be certain that additional financing, if required, will be
available on terms favorable to it, if at all.
At December 31, 2002 and 2001, the Company had cash and cash equivalents of approximately $126 million and $85 million, respectively. As of
December 31, 2002 and 2001 the Company had no significant third party
debt. The Company had working capital of approximately $134.3 and
$95.6 million at December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively. Accordingly,
the Company does not anticipate any near-term liquidity issues.
The Company does not engage in hedging activities nor has it entered into
off-balance sheet transactions, arrangements or other relationships with
unconsolidated entities or other persons that are likely to affect liquidity
or the availability of or requirements for capital resources.
Commitments and Contingencies
As of December 31, 2002, the Company has entered into fixed capital commitments related to its India development center expansion program of
approximately $28.8 million, of which approximately $19.2 million has
been spent. The multi-phase program will encompass the construction of
three fully owned development centers containing approximately 620,000
square feet of space in Pune, Chennai and Calcutta. Total costs related to
this program are expected to be approximately $35.6 million, which the
Company expects to fund internally.
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The Company leases office space and equipment under operating leases,
which expire at various dates through the year 2011. Certain leases contain renewal provisions and generally require the Company to pay utilities,
insurance, taxes, and other operating expenses. Future minimum rental
payments under operating leases that have initial or remaining lease
terms in excess of one year as of December 31, 2002 are as follows:
2003
$5,799
2004
3,829
2005
2,229
2006
1,755
2007
1,252
Thereafter
2,090
Total minimum lease payments
$16,954
Cognizant is involved in various claims and legal actions arising in the
ordinary course of business. In the opinion of management, the outcome
of such claims and legal actions, if decided adversely, is not expected to
have a material adverse effect on Cognizant’s quarterly or annual operating results, cash flows, or consolidated financial position. Additionally,
many of Cognizant’s engagements involve projects that are critical to the
operations of its customers’ business and provide benefits that are difficult to quantify. Any failure in a customer’s computer system could result
in a claim for substantial damages against Cognizant, regardless of
Cognizant’s responsibility for such failure. Although Cognizant attempts
to contractually limit its liability for damages arising from negligent acts,
errors, mistakes, or omissions in rendering its application design, development and maintenance services, there can be no assurance that the
limitations of liability set forth in its contracts will be enforceable in all
instances or will otherwise protect Cognizant from liability for damages.
Although Cognizant has general liability insurance coverage, including
coverage for errors or omissions, there can be no assurance that such coverage will continue to be available on reasonable terms or will be available
in sufficient amounts to cover one or more large claims, or that the insurer will not disclaim coverage as to any future claim. The successful assertion of one or more large claims against Cognizant that exceed available
insurance coverage or changes in Cognizant’s insurance policies, including
premium increases or the imposition of large deductible or co-insurance
requirements, could have a material adverse effect on Cognizant’s business, results of operations and financial condition. In addition, as a result
of the IMS Health split-off, the Company has entered into certain agreements and indemnifications (See Note 13 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements.)
Related Party Transactions and Transactions with Affiliates
As indicated in Notes 1 and 9 and 13 to Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements, the Company has entered into various agreements
with IMS Health, who owned a majority and controlling interest in the
outstanding common stock of the Company (55.3%) and held approximately 92.5% of the combined voting power of the Company’s common
stock at December 31, 2002. On February 13, 2003, IMS Health completed
its plan to distribute all of the Cognizant Class B common stock that IMS
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Health owned in the exchange offer, which is the subject of Amendment
No. 4 to Form S-4 Registration Statement filed by the Company on
January 30, 2003. As of the completion of such distribution, IMS Health is
no longer a related party of Cognizant.
Intercompany Services Agreement
Prior to the consummation of the exchange offer, pursuant to the terms
of an Intercompany Services Agreement, dated as of May 15, 1998, IMS
Health provided the Company with certain administrative services, including payroll and payables processing and permitted the Company to participate in IMS Health’s business insurance plans. In prior periods, IMS Health
provided certain other services such as tax planning and compliance,
which have now been transitioned to the Company. Costs for all periods
prior to the Company’s IPO were allocated to the Company based on
utilization of certain specific services. All subsequent services were performed and charged to the Company under the CTS/IMS Health intercompany services agreement that was negotiated between the parties on an
arms length basis. IMS Health and Cognizant entered into an amended
and restated Intercompany Services Agreement, effective following the
consummation of the exchange offer, which provides for the continued
provision of payroll, payables processing and certain other administrative
services for a term of up to one year.
Master Services Agreement
The Company and IMS Health have entered into Master Services
Agreements pursuant to which the Company provides IT services to IMS
Health. The IT services are provided to IMS Health on terms that are comparable to unrelated third parties. The same is true for IT services provided
to former affiliates of The Dun and Bradstreet Corporation and Cognizant
Corporation, former parents of the Company, and former and present affiliates of IMS Health. In 2002, the Company recognized related party
revenues totaling $20.4 million for services performed for IMS Health. In
2001, the Company recognized related party revenues totaling $18.8 million for services performed for IMS Health. In 2000, the Company recognized related party revenues totaling $14.3 million including revenues
from IMS Health and Strategic Technologies (through August 30, 2000).
Distribution Agreement
The Company and IMS Health entered into the Distribution Agreement, the
terms of which have been approved by a special committee of the Board of
Directors of the Company, which was comprised of the Company’s independent directors. The Distribution Agreement sets forth certain rights
and obligations of IMS Health and the Company in respect of the exchange
offer in addition to those provided in the Intercompany Agreement. For a
more complete description of the terms of the Distribution Agreement, we
urge you to read the entire Distribution Agreement, which has been filed
with the SEC as an exhibit to Amendment No. 4 to Form S-4 Registration
Statement filed with the SEC on January 30, 2003.
Agreements Relating to the Distribution
Director Resignations. IMS Health caused David M. Thomas and Nancy E.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations
Cooper to resign as of the consummation of the exchange offer from their
positions as directors of the Company and from any boards of directors of
the Company’s subsidiaries on which they served.
Indemnification. IMS Health and the Company have agreed to indemnification provisions in respect of the respective disclosure in the exchange
offer documents, the conduct of the exchange offer and any failure to
perform the Distribution Agreement.
Joint and Several Undertakings. IMS Health requested, as a condition to
the distribution of the Company’s shares in the exchange offer, that the
Company agree to undertake to be jointly and severally liable to certain of
IMS Health’s prior affiliates for liabilities arising out of or in connection
with IMS Health’s business and the businesses of the Company and other
successors to the businesses of Cognizant Corporation in accordance with
the terms of the Distribution Agreement dated as of October 28, 1996,
among Cognizant Corporation, which has been renamed Nielsen Media
Research, Inc., The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation, which has been
renamed the R.H. Donnelly Corporation and ACNielsen Corporation and
related agreements. In addition, IMS Health is obligated to procure similar
undertakings from the Company to Nielsen Media Research and Synavant
Inc. with respect to liabilities allocated to IMS Health in connection with
the Distribution Agreement, dated as of June 30, 1998, between Nielsen
Media Research, Inc. and IMS Health and related agreements and the
Distribution Agreement, dated as of August 31, 2000, between IMS Health
and Synavant Inc. The Company has agreed to deliver these undertakings.
However, subject to the general allocation of liabilities arising from the
respective businesses of IMS Health and the Company, IMS Health has
agreed to indemnify and reimburse the Company for liabilities incurred
with respect to these undertakings.
Commercial Arrangements. In addition to the Intercompany Services
Agreement, IMS Health and the Company agreed to the continuation of
certain commercial relationships between the companies for a period of at
least three years.
Insurance. The Distribution Agreement includes provisions governing the
administration of certain insurance programs and procedures for making
claims and it also allocates the right to proceeds and the allocation of
deductibles under these programs.
Tax. The Distribution Agreement provides that IMS Health and the
Company will comply with, and not take any action during the relevant
time period that is inconsistent with, the representations made to and
relied upon by McDermott, Will & Emery in connection with rendering its
opinion regarding the U.S. federal income tax consequences of the
exchange offer.
In addition, under Section 355(e) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986,
as amended (the “Code”), the exchange offer will be taxable to IMS
Health if the exchange offer is part of a plan or series of related transactions pursuant to which one or more persons acquire directly or indirectly
stock representing a 50% or greater interest, based on either vote or
value, in IMS Health or the Company. If IMS Health becomes subject to tax
under Section 355(e) of the Code, its tax liability will be based upon the

difference between the fair market value of the Cognizant Class B common
stock at the time of the exchange offer and IMS Health’s adjusted basis in
the Cognizant Class B common stock at that time. This tax liability could
be a material amount.
If a breach by the Company of the representations made by it to
McDermott, Will & Emery in connection with its tax opinion or the
covenants in the distribution agreement is the “but for” cause of the
exchange offer either failing to qualify as a tax-free distribution under
Section 355(a) of the Code or becoming taxable to IMS Health under
Section 355(e) of the Code, then the Company has agreed to indemnify
IMS Health and each member of the consolidated group of which IMS
Health is a member from and against any liability, including any taxes,
interest or penalties or additions to tax, that is imposed upon IMS Health
or any member of its consolidated group as a result of the exchange offer
becoming taxable under Section 355 of the Code. The Company will be
entitled to rely upon certain representations made by IMS Health to
McDermott, Will & Emery in connection with its tax opinion. In the event
any of these representations are not true, correct or complete, the
Company will not be obligated to indemnify IMS Health or the members of
its consolidated group against any liability arising under Section 355 of
the Code if the Company’s breach of a representation would not have
resulted in this type of liability had all of IMS Health’s representations
made in connection with McDermott, Will & Emery’s tax opinion been true,
complete and correct.
As a result of the representations made to McDermott, Will & Emery in
connection with its tax opinion and the covenants in the Distribution
Agreement, the acquisition of control of the Company during the two-year
period following the exchange offer may be more difficult or less likely to
occur because of the potential indemnification liability associated with a
breach of these representations or covenants. In addition, the Company’s
ability to undertake acquisitions and other transactions may be substantially restricted during the two-year period following the exchange offer.
Other Relationships and Transactions
In December 2001, the Company paid IMS Health a one-time fee of
approximately $825,000 under an alliance agreement in which the
Company was named “vendor of choice” for IT services to the pharmaceutical industry. This agreement was negotiated between the parties on an
arms-length basis.
In addition, the Company has a strategic business relationship with
The TriZetto Group Inc. that includes helping its healthcare customers
integrate TriZetto’s products with their existing information systems and,
within TriZetto, supporting further development of these software applications. As of December 31, 2002, IMS Health owned approximately 26.4%
of the outstanding common stock of Trizetto. During 2002 the Company
recorded revenues from TriZetto of approximately $2.6 million and expenses related to TriZetto commissions and marketing fees of approximately
$0.7 million. During 2001 the Company recorded revenues from TriZetto of
approximately $401,000 and payments related to TriZetto commissions and
marketing fees of approximately $1.0 million.
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Foreign Currency Translation
The assets and liabilities of the Company’s Canadian and European subsidiaries are translated into U.S. dollars at current exchange rates and
revenues and expenses are translated at average monthly exchange rates.
The resulting translation adjustments are recorded in a separate component of stockholders’ equity. For the Company’s Indian subsidiary, the
functional currency is the U.S. dollar since its sales are made primarily in
the United States, the sales price is predominantly in U.S. dollars; and
there is a high volume of intercompany transactions denominated in U.S.
dollars between the Indian subsidiary and the Company’s U.S. affiliates.
Non-monetary assets and liabilities are translated at historical exchange
rates, while monetary assets and liabilities are translated at current
exchange rates. A portion of the Company’s costs in India are denominated in local currency and subject to exchange fluctuations, which has not
had any material effect on the Company’s results of operations.
Effects of Inflation
The Company’s most significant costs are the salaries and related benefits
for its programming staff and other professionals. Competition in India,
the United States and Europe for professionals with advanced technical
skills necessary to perform the services offered by the Company have
caused wages to increase at a rate greater than the general rate of inflation. As with other IT service providers, the Company must adequately
anticipate wage increases, particularly on its fixed-price contracts. There
can be no assurance that the Company will be able to recover cost increases through increases in the prices that it charges for its services in the
United States and elsewhere.
Recent Accounting Pronouncements
During 2002 and 2001, various accounting pronouncements were issued
which may impact the Company’s financial statements. (See Note 2 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements.)
Forward Looking Statements
The statements contained in this Annual Report that are not historical
facts are forward-looking statements (within the meaning of Section 21E
of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended) that involve risks and
uncertainties. Such forward-looking statements may be identified by,
among other things, the use of forward-looking terminology such as
“believes,” “expects,” “may,” “will,” “should” or “anticipates” or the negative thereof or other variations thereon or comparable terminology, or by
discussions of strategy that involve risks and uncertainties. From time to
time, the Company or its representatives have made or may make forwardlooking statements, orally or in writing. Such forward-looking statements
may be included in various filings made by the Company with the
Securities and Exchange Commission, or press releases or oral statements
made by or with the approval of an authorized executive officer of the
Company. These forward-looking statements, such as statements regarding
anticipated future revenues, contract percentage completions, capital
expenditures, and other statements regarding matters that are not histori-
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cal facts, involve predictions. The Company’s actual results, performance
or achievements could differ materially from the results expressed in, or
implied by, these forward-looking statements. Potential risks and uncertainties that could affect the Company’s future operating results include,
but are not limited to the significant fluctuations of Cognizant’s quarterly
operating results caused by a variety of factors, many of which are not
within Cognizant’s control, including, but not limited to: (i) the significant
fluctuations of Cognizant’s quarterly operating results caused by a variety
of factors, many of which are not within Cognizant’s control, including (a)
the number, timing, scope and contractual terms of application design,
development and maintenance projects, (b) delays in the performance of
projects, (c) the accuracy of estimates of costs, resources and time to
complete projects, (d) seasonal patterns of Cognizant’s services required
by customers, (e) levels of market acceptance for Cognizant’s services, (f)
potential adverse impacts of new tax legislation, and (g) the hiring of
additional staff; (ii) changes in Cognizant’s billing and employee utilization rates; (iii) Cognizant’s ability to manage its growth effectively, which
will require Cognizant (a) to increase the number of its personnel, particularly skilled technical, marketing and management personnel, (b) to find
suitable acquisition candidates to support geographic expansion, and (c)
to continue to develop and improve its operational, financial, communications and other internal systems, in the United States, India and Europe;
(iv) Cognizant’s limited operating history with unaffiliated customers; (v)
Cognizant’s reliance on key customers and large projects; (vi) the highly
competitive nature of the markets for Cognizant’s services; (vii)
Cognizant’s ability to successfully address the continuing changes in information technology, evolving industry standards and changing customer
objectives and preferences; (viii) Cognizant’s reliance on the continued
services of its key executive officers and leading technical personnel; (ix)
Cognizant’s ability to attract and retain a sufficient number of highly
skilled employees in the future; (x) Cognizant’s ability to protect its intellectual property rights; (xi) the concentration of Cognizant's operations in
India and the related geo-political risks of local and cross-border conflicts;
(xii) terrorist activity, the threat of terrorist activity, and responses to and
results of terrorist activity and threats, including, but not limited to,
effects, domestically and/or internationally, on Cognizant, its personnel
and facilities, its customers and suppliers, financial markets and general
economic conditions; (xiii) the effects, domestically and/or internationally, on Cognizant, its personnel and facilities, its customers and suppliers,
financial markets and general economic conditions arising from hostilities
involving the United States in Iraq or elsewhere; (xiv) a breach of the
Distribution agreement entered into between the Company and IMS
Health; (xv) a change in the Company’s intent to repatriate undistributed
earnings and (xvi) general economic conditions. Such forward-looking
statements include risks and uncertainties; consequently, actual transactions and results may differ materially from those expressed or implied
thereby.

Statement of Management’s Responsibility
for Financial Statements

Report of Independent Accountants

To the Stockholders of Cognizant Technology Solutions Corporation

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Cognizant Technology Solutions Corporation:

Management is responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements and related information that are presented in this report.
The consolidated financial statements, which include amounts based on
management's estimates and judgments, have been prepared in conformity
with generally accepted accounting principles. Other financial information
in the report to shareholders is consistent with that in the consolidated
financial statements.
The Company maintains accounting and internal control systems to provide reasonable assurance at reasonable cost that assets are safeguarded
against loss from unauthorized use or disposition, and that the financial
records are reliable for preparing financial statements and maintaining
accountability for assets. These systems are augmented by written policies,
an organizational structure providing division of responsibilities and careful selection and training of qualified personnel.
The Company engaged PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, independent accountants, to audit and render an opinion on the consolidated financial statements in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards. These
standards include an assessment of the systems of internal controls and
tests of transactions to the extent considered necessary by them to
support their opinion.
The Board of Directors, through its Audit Committee consisting solely of
outside directors of the Company, meets periodically with management
and our independent accountants to ensure that each is meeting its
responsibilities and to discuss matters concerning internal controls and
financial reporting. PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP has full and free access to
the Audit Committee.

Wijeyaraj Mahadeva
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated statements of financial
position, and the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders’ equity and cash flows present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of Cognizant Technology Solutions Corporation and its
subsidiaries at December 31, 2002 and the results of their operations and
their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December
31, 2002, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States of America. In addition, in our opinion, the financial
statement schedule presents fairly, in all material respects, the information set forth therein when read in conjunction with the related consolidated financial statements. These financial statements and financial
statement schedule are the responsibility of the Company’s management;
our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements
and financial statement schedule based on our audits. We conducted our
audits of these statements in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which require that we plan
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used
and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
New York, New York
February 10, 2003, except for Note 13,
as to which the date is February 21, 2003, and
Note 14 as to which the date is April 1, 2003

Gordon J. Coburn
Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer, Secretary & Treasurer
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Consolidated Statements of Financial Position
(in thousands, except par values)
At December 31,
2002

Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade accounts receivable, net of allowances of $861 and $882, respectively
Trade accounts receivable – related party
Unbilled accounts receivable
Unbilled accounts receivable – related party
Current tax asset
Other current assets
Total current assets
Property and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation of
$24,559 and $16,805, respectively
Goodwill, net
Other intangible assets, net
Other assets
Total assets
Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses and other liabilities
Total current liabilities
Deferred income taxes
Total liabilities

2001

$ 126,211
35,092
1,605
4,159
149
3,711
4,907
175,834

$

39,090
878
12,870
2,801
$ 231,473

24,339
878
–
2,431
$ 144,983

$

$

6,948
34,539
41,487
24,505
65,992

84,977
21,063
1,481
5,005
417
1,451
2,941
117,335

3,652
18,046
21,698
24,493
46,191

Commitments and contingencies (See Notes 10 and 11)
Stockholders’ equity: (See Notes 7, 13 and 14)
Preferred stock, $.10 par value, 15,000 shares authorized, none issued
Class A common stock, $.01 par value, 100,000 shares authorized,
27,390 and 24,195 shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2002
and 2001, respectively (1) (2)
Class B common stock, $.01 par value, 25,000 shares authorized,
33,870 shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2002
and 2001, respectively (1) (2)
Additional paid-in capital (1)
Retained earnings
Cumulative translation adjustment
Total stockholders’ equity
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity

–

–

273

240

339
71,446
93,608
(185)
165,481
$ 231,473

339
39,325
59,046
(158)
98,792
$ 144,983

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
(1) See Notes 13 and 14 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
(2) The number of Class B shares issued and outstanding are shown on a pro forma (“as if split”) basis to reflect the Company’s
three-for-one stock split. On February 13, 2003 all Class B shares held by IMS Health were converted to Class A shares as a result of an
exchange offer initiated by IMS Health. Since the conversion of all Class B shares to Class A shares is not reflected herein, the “as if
split” number of Class B shares issued and outstanding exceeds the number of Class B shares authorized.
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Consolidated Statements of Operations
(in thousands, except per share data)
Year Ended December 31,

Revenues
Revenues-related party
Total revenues
Cost of revenues
Gross profit
Selling, general and administrative expenses
Depreciation and amortization expense
Income from operations
Other income/(expense), net:
Interest income
Impairment loss on investment
Split-off costs
Other income/(expense), net
Total other (expense) income
Income before provision for income taxes
Provision for income taxes
Net income
Net income per share, Basic (1)
Net income per share, Diluted (1)
Weighted average number of common shares
outstanding - Basic (1)
Dilutive effect of shares issuable as of period-end
under stock option plans (1)
Weighted average number of common shares
outstanding - Diluted (1)
Comprehensive Income:
Net income
Foreign currency translation adjustment
Total comprehensive income

2002

2001

2000

$ 208,657

$ 158,969

$ 122,758

20,429
229,086
122,701
106,385
53,345
7,842
45,198

18,809
177,778
90,848
86,930
44,942
6,368
35,620

14,273
137,031
70,437
66,594
35,959
4,507
26,128

1,808
–
(1,680)
(235)
(107)
45,091
(10,529)
$ 34,562

2,501
(1,955)
–
(767)
(221)
35,399
(13,239)
$ 22,160

2,649
–
–
(530)
2,119
28,247
(10,564)
$ 17,683

$
$

$
$

$
$

0.58
0.54

0.39
0.36

0.32
0.29

59,241

57,051

55,695

4,452

4,062

5,073

63,693

61,113

60,768

$ 34,562
(27)
$ 34,535

$

22,160
(108)
$ 22,052

$
$

17,683
(41)
17,642

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
(1) See Note 14 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity
(in thousands)
Class A
Common stock(1)
Shares Amount

Balance, December 31, 1999
Translation Adjustment
Exercise of Stock Options
Tax Benefit related to Option
Exercises
Employee Stock Purchase Plan
Compensatory Grant
Less Prior year charges
Less Unearned portion
Net Income
Balance, December 31, 2000
Translation Adjustment
Exercise of Stock Options
Tax Benefit related to Stock Plans
Employee Stock Purchase Plan
Compensatory Grant
Less Prior year charges
Net Income
Balance, December 31, 2001
Translation Adjustment
Exercise of Stock Options
Tax Benefit related to Stock Plans
Employee Stock Purchase Plan
Net Income
Balance, December 31, 2002

$216
–
3

–
96
–
–
–
–
22,089

–
–
–
–
–
–
219

–
–
–
–
–
–
33,870

–
–
–
–
–
–
339

1,258
937
340
(294)
(11)
–
28,722

–
1,995
–
111
–
–

–
21
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–
–

–
–
33,870 339
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
33,870 $339

–
–
24,195
240
–
–
3,111
30
–
–
84
3
–
–
27,390 $273

33,870 $339
–
–
–
–

Additional
Paid-in
Capital(1)

21,606
–
387

(1) See Notes 1, 7, 13, and 14.
The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Class B
Common stock(1)
Shares Amount

$ 25,712
–
780

Retained
Earnings

$ 19,203
–
–

Cumulative
Translation
Adjustment

$

Total

(9)
(41)
–

$ 45,461
(41)
783

–
–
–
–
–
17,683
36,886

–
–
–
–
–
–
(50)

1,258
937
340
(294)
(11)
17,683
66,116

–
5,117
4,633
842
340
(329)

–
–
–
–
–
–

(108)
–
–
–
–
–

(108)
5,138
4,633
842
340
(329)

–
39,325
–
18,882
12,111
1,128
–
$ 71,446

22,160
59,046
–
–
–
–
34,562
$ 93,608

-(158)
(27)
–
–
–
–
$(185)

22,160
98,792
(27)
18,912
12,111
1,131
34,562
$ 165,481

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(in thousands, except per share data)
Year Ended December 31,
2002

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided
by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Provision for doubtful accounts
Deferred income taxes
Impairment loss on investment
Tax benefit related to stock option exercises
Changes in assets and liabilities:
Trade accounts receivable
Other current assets
Other assets
Accounts payable

$

Accrued and other liabilities
Net cash provided by operating activities
Cash flows used in investing activities:
Purchase of property and equipment
Intangible assets acquired
Investment
Net cash used in investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from stock plans/compensatory grant
(Payments to) proceeds from related party
Net cash provided by financing activities

2001

2000

22,160

$ 17,683

7,842
510
12
–
12,111

6,367
1,837
7,791
1,955
4,633

4,507
572
6,341
–
1,258

(14,663)
(3,111)
(370)
3,296

(3,833)
(4,115)
300
803

(10,825)
(1,924)
(902)
1,414

16,493
56,682

(5,819)
32,079

12,096
30,220

(22,268)
(13,196)
–
(35,464)

(14,953)
–
–
(14,953)

(10,652)
–
(1,955)
(12,607)

34,562

$

20,043
–
20,043

5,991
(8)
5,983

Effect of currency translation
Increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents, at beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents, at end of year

(27)
41,234
84,977
$ 126,211

$

(108)
23,001
61,976
84,977

Supplemental information:
Cash paid for income taxes during the year

$

$

3,797

2,896

1,755
8
1,763
(41)
19,335
42,641
$ 61,976

$

1,186

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements

27

2 0 0 2

C O G N I Z A N T

F I N A N C I A L

R E V I E W

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(in thousands, except share and per share data)

1. Basis of Presentation
Cognizant Technology Solutions Corporation (the “Company”, “Cognizant”, or
“CTS”) is a leading provider of custom IT design, development, integration
and maintenance services primarily for Fortune 1000 companies located in
the United States and Europe. Cognizant’s core competencies include webcentric applications, data warehousing, component-based development and
legacy and client-server systems. Cognizant provides the IT services it
offers using an integrated onsite/offshore business model. This seamless
onsite/offshore business model combines technical and account management teams located onsite at the customer location and offshore at
dedicated development centers located in India and Ireland.
Cognizant began its IT development and maintenance services business in
early 1994, as an in-house technology development center for The Dun &
Bradstreet Corporation and its operating units. In 1996, Cognizant, along
with certain other entities, was spun-off from the Dun & Bradstreet
Corporation to form a new company, Cognizant Corporation. On June 24,
1998, Cognizant completed its initial public offering of its Class A common
stock (the “IPO”). On June 30, 1998, a majority interest in Cognizant, and
certain other entities were spun-off from Cognizant Corporation to form IMS
Health Incorporated (“IMS Health”). Subsequently, Cognizant Corporation
was renamed Nielsen Media Research, Incorporated.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Principles of Consolidation. The consolidated financial statements reflect
the consolidated financial position, results of operations and cash flows of
the Company and its consolidated subsidiaries as if it were a separate entity
for all periods presented. All intercompany transactions are eliminated.
Cash and Cash Equivalents. Cash and cash equivalents primarily include
time and demand deposits in the Company’s operating bank accounts. The
Company considers all highly liquid instruments with an initial maturity of
three months or less to be cash equivalents.

At December 31, 2002, IMS Health owned 55.3% of the outstanding stock of
Cognizant (representing all of Cognizant's Class B common stock) and held
92.5% of the combined voting power of Cognizant’s common stock. Holders
of Cognizant's Class A common stock have one vote per share and holders of
Cognizant's Class B common stock have ten votes per share.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts. The Company maintains allowances for
doubtful accounts for estimated losses resulting from the inability of its customers to make required payments. The allowance for doubtful accounts is
determined by evaluating the relative credit-worthiness of each customer
based upon market capitalization and other information, including the aging
of the receivables.

On January 30, 2003, the Company filed a tender offer in which IMS Health
stockholders could exchange IMS Health shares held by them for Cognizant
Class B common stock held by IMS Health. There will be no impact on the
number of Cognizant’s total shares outstanding upon the completion of the
exchange offer. (See Note 13 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.)

Investments. Investments in business entities in which the Company does
not have control or the ability to exercise significant influence over the
operating and financial policies are accounted for under the cost method.
Investments are evaluated for impairment at least annually, or as
circumstances warrant.

On February 13, 2003, IMS Health completed its plan to distribute all of the
Cognizant Class B common stock that IMS Health owned in an exchange
offer. There is no impact on the number of Cognizant's total shares outstanding as a result of the completion of the exchange offer. As of February
21, 2003, pursuant to the Company’s Restated Certificate of Incorporation,
all 33,872,700 shares of Class B common stock converted into shares of Class
A common stock. Accordingly, as of such date, there are no shares of Class B
common stock outstanding and the share and equity balances that relate to
Class B common stock will be reclassed to the share and equity balances of
Class A common stock.

Property and Equipment. Property and equipment are stated at cost, net of
accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line
basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets. Leasehold improvements
are amortized on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the term of the
lease or the estimated useful life of the improvement. Maintenance and
repairs are expensed as incurred, while renewals and betterments are capitalized.

The conversion of Class B common stock to Class A common stock has not
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On March 5, 2003, the Board of Directors declared a 3-for-1 stock split of
Class A common stock effected by a 200% stock dividend payable on April 1,
2003 to stockholders of record on March 19, 2003. The stock split has been
reflected in the accompanying financial statements, and all applicable references to the number of outstanding common shares and per share information has been restated. Appropriate adjustments have been made in the
exercise price and number of shares subject to stock options. Stockholders’
equity account have been restated to reflect the reclassification of an
amount equal to the par value of the increase in issued common shares from
the additional paid in capital account to the common stock accounts.

been reflected in the accompanying financial statements and all applicable
references to the number of outstanding Class A and Class B common stock,
as well as IMS Health’s ownership interest have not been restated to reflect
the exchange offer. Stockholders’ equity accounts will subsequently be
restated to reflect the reclassification of the share and equity balances that
relate to Class B common stock to the share and equity balances of Class A
common stock.

Purchased Software. Purchased software that is intended for internal use is
capitalized, including the salaries and benefits of employees that are directly
involved in the installation of such software. The capitalized costs are amortized on a straight-line method over the lesser of three years or its useful life.
Goodwill and Other Intangibles. Goodwill represents the excess of the
purchase price of the former minority interest in the Company’s Indian subsidiary over the fair values of amounts assigned to the net assets acquired.
Amortization expense had been recorded using the straight-line method over
a period of seven years. Amortization expense was $317 for each of the years

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(in thousands, except share and per share data)
ended December 31, 2001 and 2000. Accumulated amortization was $1,345
and $1,028 at December 31, 2001 and 2000, respectively. Effective January
1, 2002, in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
(“SFAS”) No. 142 “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets” (“FAS 142”), the
Company is no longer amortizing its remaining goodwill balance; however,
the Company does evaluate goodwill for impairment, in accordance with FAS
142, at least annually, or as circumstances warrant.
Other intangibles represent primarily customer relationships and assembled
workforce, which are being amortized on a straight-line basis over 10 years
and 5-8 years, respectively. The Company evaluates such intangibles for
impairment in accordance with FAS 142, at each balance sheet date
Long-Lived Assets. In accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards (“SFAS”) No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of
Long-Lived Assets”, which was adopted in 2002, the Company reviews for
impairment long-lived assets and certain identifiable intangibles whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an
asset may not be recoverable. In general, the Company will recognize an
impairment loss when the sum of undiscounted expected future cash flows is
less than the carrying amount of such assets. The measurement for such an
impairment loss is then based on the fair value of the asset.
Revenue Recognition. The Company’s services are entered into on either a
time-and-materials or fixed-price basis. Revenues related to time-and-material contracts are recognized as the service is performed. Revenues related to
fixed-price contracts that provide for highly complex information technology
application development services or that provide for a combination of application development and application maintenance services are recognized as
the service is performed using the percentage-of-completion method of
accounting, under which the sales value of performance is recognized on the
basis of the percentage that each contract's cost to date bears to the total
estimated cost. Revenues related to fixed-priced contracts that provide solely for application maintenance services are recognized on a straight-line
basis or as services are rendered or transactions processed in accordance
with contractual terms. Expenses are recorded as incurred over the contract
period.
Fixed price contracts are cancelable subject to a specified notice period. All
services provided by the Company through the date of cancellation are due
and payable under the contract terms. The Company issues invoices related
to fixed price contracts based upon achievement of milestones during a project or other contractual terms. Differences between the timing of billings,
based upon contract milestones or other contractual terms, and the recognition of revenue, based upon the percentage-of-completion method of
accounting, are recognized as either unbilled or deferred revenue. Estimates
of certain fixed contracts are subject to adjustment as a project progresses
to reflect changes in expected completion costs. The cumulative impact of
any revision in estimates is reflected in the financial reporting period in
which the change in estimate becomes known and any anticipated losses on
contracts are recognized immediately. A reserve for warranty provisions
under such contracts, which generally exist for ninety days past contract
completion, is estimated and accrued during the contract period.

Revenues related to services performed without a signed agreement or work
order are not recognized until there is evidence of an arrangement, such as
when agreements or work orders are signed or payment is received; however
the cost related to the performance of such work is recognized in the period
the services are rendered. Such revenue is recognized when, and if, evidence
of an arrangement is obtained.
Accounting for Stock-Based Employee Compensation Plans. At December
31, 2002, the Company has four stock-based employee compensation plans,
which are described more fully in Note 8. The company accounts for those
plans under the recognition and measurement principles of APB Opinion No.
25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees, and related Interpretations.”
No stock-based employee compensation cost is reflected in net income, as all
options granted under those plans had an exercise price equal to the market
value of the underlying common stock on the date of grant. The following
table illustrates the effect on net income and earnings per share if the
Company had applied the fair value recognition provisions of FASB
Statement No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation”, to stockbased employee compensation.
December 31,

Net income, as reported
Deduct Total stock-based compensation
expense determined under the fair
value method for all awards, net of
related tax benefits
Pro forma net income
Earnings per share:
Net income, as reported-basic
Pro forma-basic
Net income, as reported-diluted
Pro forma-diluted

2002

2001

2000

$34,562

$22,160

$17,683

11,562
$23,000

7,127
$15,033

4,868
$12,815

$0.58
$0.39
$0.54
$0.36

$0.39
$0.26
$0.36
$0.25

$0.32
$0.23
$0.29
$0.21

Unbilled Accounts Receivable. Unbilled accounts receivable represent revenues on contracts to be billed, in subsequent periods, as per the terms of
the contracts.
Foreign Currency Translation. The assets and liabilities of the Company’s
Canadian and European subsidiaries are translated into U.S. dollars from
local currencies at current exchange rates and revenues and expenses are
translated from local currencies at average monthly exchange rates. The
resulting translation adjustments are recorded in a separate component of
stockholders’ equity. For the Company’s Indian subsidiary (“CTS India”), the
functional currency is the U.S. dollar, since its sales are made primarily in
the United States, the sales price is predominantly in U.S. dollars and there
is a high volume of intercompany transactions denominated in U.S. dollars
between CTS India and its U.S. affiliates. Non-monetary assets and liabilities
are translated at historical exchange rates, while monetary assets and liabilities are translated at current exchange rates. The resulting gain (loss) is
included in other income.
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Use of Estimates. The preparation of financial statements in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities, including the recoverability of tangible and
intangible assets, disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities as of the
date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and
expenses during the reported period. The most significant estimates relate
to the allowance for doubtful accounts, reserve for warranties, reserves for
employee benefits, depreciation of fixed assets and long-lived assets, contingencies and litigation and the recognition of revenue and profits based on
the percentage of completion method of accounting for applicable fixed-bid
contracts, income tax expense and related deferred assets and liabilities, and
purchase price allocation related to intangible and tangible assets acquired.
Results could vary from the estimates and assumptions used in the preparation of the accompanying financial statements.
Risks and Uncertainties. All of the Company’s software development centers, including a substantial majority of its employees are located in India.
As a result, the Company may be subject to certain risks associated with
international operations, including risks associated with foreign currency
exchange rate fluctuations and risks associated with the application and
imposition of protective legislation and regulations relating to import and
export or otherwise resulting from foreign policy or the variability of foreign
economic conditions. To date, the Company has not engaged in any significant hedging transactions to mitigate its risks relating to exchange rate fluctuations. Additional risks associated with international operations include
difficulties in enforcing intellectual property rights, the burdens of complying with a wide variety of foreign laws, potential geo-political and other risks
associated with terrorist activities and local or cross border conflicts, potentially adverse tax consequences, tariffs, quotas and other barriers.
Concentration of Credit Risk. Financial instruments that potentially subject
the Company to significant concentrations of credit risk consist primarily of
cash and cash equivalents and trade accounts receivable. The Company maintains its cash investments with high credit quality financial institutions in
investment-grade, short-term debt securities and limits the amount of credit
exposure to any one commercial issuer.
Income Taxes. The Company provides for income taxes utilizing the asset and
liability method of accounting for income taxes. Under this method, deferred
income taxes are recorded to reflect the tax consequences in future years of
differences between the tax basis of assets and liabilities and their financial
reporting amounts at each balance sheet date, based on enacted tax laws
and statutory tax rates applicable to the periods in which the differences are
expected to affect taxable income. If it is determined that it is more likely
than not that future tax benefits associated with a deferred tax asset will
not be realized, a valuation allowance is provided. The effect on deferred tax
assets and liabilities of a change in the tax rates is recognized in income in
the period that includes the enactment date.
CTS India is an export-oriented company, which under the Indian Income Tax
Act of 1961, is entitled to claim a tax holiday for a period of ten years with
respect to its export profits. Substantially all of the earnings of the
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Company’s Indian subsidiary are attributable to export profits and are therefore currently entitled to a 90% exemption from Indian income tax. These
tax holidays will begin to expire in 2004 and under current law will be completely phased out by 2009. In prior periods, it was management’s intent to
repatriate all accumulated earnings from India to the United States; accordingly, the Company has provided deferred income taxes in the amount of
approximately $24,935 on all such undistributed earnings through December
31, 2001.
During the first quarter of 2002, the Company made a strategic decision to
pursue an international strategy that includes expanded infrastructure
investments in India and geographic expansion in Europe and Asia. As a
component of this strategy, the Company intends to use 2002 and future
Indian earnings to expand operations outside of the United States instead of
repatriating these earnings to the United States. Accordingly, effective
January 1, 2002, pursuant to Accounting Principles Bulletin 23, the Company
has not accrued taxes on the repatriation of earnings recognized in 2002 as
these earnings are considered to be indefinitely reinvested outside of the
United States. As of December 31, 2002, the amount of unrepatriated earnings upon which no provision for taxation has been recorded is approximately $30,059. If such earnings are repatriated in the future, or are no longer
deemed to be indefinitely reinvested, the Company would accrue the applicable amount of taxes associated with such earnings. This change in intent, as
well as a change in the second quarter in the manner in which repatriated
earnings are taxed in India, resulted in an estimated effective tax rate for
the year ended December 31, 2002 of 23.4%. This rate compares to an effective tax rate for the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000 of 37.4%.
Deferred U.S. income taxes on unremitted earnings from other foreign entities have not been provided for as it is the Company’s intent to reinvest such
earnings. Such income taxes are immaterial.
Net Income Per Share. Basic earnings per share (“EPS”) excludes dilution
and is computed by dividing earnings available to common stockholders by
the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding for the period.
Diluted EPS includes all potential dilutive common stock in the weighted
average shares outstanding (See note 14).
Reclassifications. Certain prior-year amounts have been reclassified to conform with the 2002 presentation.
Recently Issued Accounting Standards.
Statements of Financial Accounting Standards Adopted:
In June 2001, Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 141,
“Business Combinations” (“FAS 141”) and Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 142 “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets” (“FAS 142”) were
issued. FAS 141 requires the purchase method of accounting to be used for
all business combinations initiated after June 30, 2001. FAS 141 also specifies criteria that intangible assets acquired must meet to be recognized and
reported separately from goodwill. FAS 142 requires that goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite lives no longer be amortized but instead be
measured for impairment at least annually, or when events indicate that
there may be an impairment. At December 31, 2002, the Company evaluated
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both goodwill and intangible assets and concluded that they had not been
impaired. FAS 142 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15,
2001. The adoption of FAS 141 and FAS 142 did not have a material effect on
the Company’s financial position or results of operations.
The following table sets forth the Company’s results had FAS 142 been
applied to the prior-period financial statements presented herein.
December 31,

Reported Net Income
Reversal of Goodwill Amortization
- net of tax
Adjusted Net Income excluding
Goodwill Amortization
Adjusted Basic EPS excluding
Goodwill Amortization
Adjusted Diluted EPS excluding
Goodwill Amortization

2002

2001

2000

$34,562

$22,160

$17,683

0

317

317

$34,563

$22,477

$18,000

$0.58

$0.39

$0.32

$0.54

$0.37

$0.30

accounting for stock-based employee compensation. In addition, FAS 148
amends the disclosure requirements of FAS 123 to require prominent disclosures in both annual and interim financial statements about the method of
accounting for stock-based employee compensation and the effect of the
method used on reported results. The Company has adopted these amended
disclosure requirements (See Note 2 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements) under the heading “Accounting for Stock Based Compensation
Plans” and will implement the required interim disclosures beginning in the
first quarter of 2003.
Statements of Financial Accounting Standards Not Yet Adopted:

In August 2001, Statement of Financial Standards No. 144, “Accounting for
the Impairment or Disposal of Long-lived Assets” (“FAS 144”) was issued.
FAS 144 supersedes Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 121,
“Accounting for the Impairment of Long-lived Assets to be Disposed of,” and
the accounting and reporting provisions of APB Opinion No. 30, “Reporting
the Results of Operations-Reporting the Effects of Disposal of a Segment of a
Business, and Extraordinary, Unusual and Infrequently occurring Events and
Transactions.” FAS 144 also amends ARB (“Accounting Research Bulletins”)
No. 51, Consolidated Financial Statements, to eliminate the exception to
consolidation for a subsidiary for which control is likely to be temporary. FAS
144 retains the fundamental provisions of FAS 121 for recognizing and
measuring impairment losses on long-lived assets held for use and long-lived
assets to be disposed of by sale, while resolving significant implementation
issues associated with FAS 121. Among other things, FAS 144 provides guidance on how long-lived assets used as part of a group should be evaluated
for impairment, establishes criteria for when long-lived assets are held for
sale, and prescribes the accounting for long-lived assets that will be disposed of other than by sale. FAS 144 is effective for fiscal years beginning
after December 15, 2001. The adoption of FAS 144 did not have a material
impact on the Company’s financial position and results of operations.
In April 2002, Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 145,
“Rescission of FASB Statements No. 4, 44, and 64, Amendment of FASB
Statement No. 13, and Technical Corrections” (“FAS 145”) was issued. FAS
145 updates, clarifies and simplifies existing accounting pronouncements
and is generally effective for transactions occurring after May 15, 2002. The
adoption of this statement did not have a material impact on the Company's
financial position or results of operations.
In December 2002, Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 148
“Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation – Transition and Disclosure – an
amendment of FAS 123” (FAS 148) was issued. FAS 148 amends FAS 123,
“Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation”, to provide alternative methods
of transition for a voluntary change to the fair value based method of

In June 2001, Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 143,
“Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations” (“FAS 143”) was issued. FAS
143 addresses financial accounting and reporting for legal obligations associated with the retirement of tangible long-lived assets and the associated
retirement costs that result from the acquisition, construction, or development and normal operation of a long-lived asset. Upon initial recognition of
a liability for an asset retirement obligation, FAS 143 requires an increase in
the carrying amount of the related long-lived asset. The asset retirement
cost is subsequently allocated to expense using a systematic and rational
method over the assets useful life. FAS 143 is effective for fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2002. The adoption of this statement is not expected to
have a material impact on the Company’s financial position or results of
operations.
In June 2002, Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 146,
“Accounting for Exit or Disposal Activities” (“FAS 146”) was issued. FAS 146
addresses the accounting for costs to terminate a contract that is not a
capital lease, costs to consolidate facilities and relocate employees, and
involuntary termination benefits under one-time benefit arrangements that
are not an ongoing benefit program or an individual deferred compensation
contract. A liability for contract termination costs should be recognized and
measured at fair value either when the contract is terminated or when the
entity ceases to use the right conveyed by the contract. A liability for onetime termination benefits should be recognized and measured at fair value
at the communication date if the employee would not be retained beyond a
minimum retention period (i.e., either a legal notification period or 60 days,
if no legal requirement exists). For employees that will be retained beyond
the minimum retention period, a liability should be accrued ratably over the
future service period. The provisions of the statement will be effective for
disposal activities initiated after December 31, 2002. The adoption of this
statement is not expected to have a material impact on the Company's
financial position or results of operations.
In November 2002, the Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) reached a consensus in EITF 00-21 “Revenue Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables”. The
consensus, which is effective for contracts entered into in fiscal periods
beginning after June 15, 2003, requires that a Company should evaluate all
deliverables in an arrangement to determine whether they represent separate units of accounting. That evaluation must be performed at the inception
of the arrangement and as each item in the arrangement is delivered.
Arrangement consideration should be then allocated among the separate
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units of accounting based on their relative fair values. EITF 00-21 indicates
that the best evidence of fair value is the price of a deliverable when it is
regularly sold on a standalone basis. Fair value evidence often consists of
entity-specific or vendor-specific objective evidence (VSOE) of fair value.
The Company enters into contracts that could be considered arrangements
with multiple deliverables. These contracts are primarily long-term fixed-bid
contracts that provide both application maintenance and application development services. As indicated in Note 2 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements, the Company accounts for such contracts using percentage of
completion accounting, which is the prevailing industry practice. The
Company is currently evaluating the possible prospective impact of EITF 0021 on the Company’s results of operations related to contracts entered into
after June 15, 2003.

3. Supplemental Financial Data
Property and Equipment
Property and equipment consist of the following:
Estimated
Useful Life
(Years)

Buildings
Computer equipment and
purchased software
Furniture and equipment
Land
Leasehold improvements
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December 31,
2002
2001

$17,574

3
5–9

33,829
1,999
1,705
Over shorter 8,542
of lease term
or life of asset
Sub-total
63,649
Accumulated depreciation and amortization
(24,559)
Property and Equipment - Net
$39,090

$3,930
27,160
1,958
1,678
6,418

41,144
(16,805)
$24,339

Depreciation expense was $7,516, $6,368 and $4,507 for the years ended
December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.
Accrued Expenses and Other Liabilities
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities consist of the following:
December 31,
2002
2001

Accrued compensation and benefits
Deferred revenue
Accrued professional fees
Accrued vacation
Accrued travel and entertainment
Other
Total

$ 17,907
5,075
3,757
3,274
2,131
2,395
$ 34,539

$ 7,676
2,696
1,411
2,465
1,705
2,093
$ 18,046

4. Investments
On June 30, 2002, Cognizant Technology Solutions Ireland Limited (“CTS
Ireland”), a newly formed wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, purchased certain assets and assumed certain liabilities from UnitedHealthcare
Ireland Limited (“UHCI”), a subsidiary of UnitedHealth Group, for $3,043
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(including approximately $143 of direct deal costs). In accordance with FAS
142, this transaction was determined to be an acquisition of assets, not a
business combination.
UHCI previously provided, and will continue to provide through CTS Ireland,
application development and maintenance services, using the existing staff
of approximately 70 software professionals. The acquisition of the assets of
UHCI, is designed to enable the Company to provide a wide range of services
to the Company’s clients in Europe and worldwide and represents the initial
implementation of the Company’s previously announced international
expansion strategy.
In accordance with FAS 142, the Company has allocated, based upon an
independent appraisal, the purchase price to the UHCI tangible and intangible assets and liabilities acquired. The details of the allocation and the
respective useful lives over which these assets are being amortized are provided in the table below. Amortization of $148, related to the acquisition of
these assets, has been included in the Consolidated Statements of
Operations for the six-month period ended December 31, 2002. Such net
assets, excluding amounts assigned to fixed assets, have been included as
intangible assets in the Consolidated Balance Sheets and as identifiable
assets in the European segment in Note 12. The operating results of CTS
Ireland have been included in the consolidated financial statements of the
Company effective July 1, 2002.
On October 29, 2002, the Company completed the transfer of Silverline
Technologies, Inc.’s (“Silverline”) practice, which serviced a major financial
services company to the Company for $10,424 (including approximately $620
of direct deal costs). In accordance with FAS 142, this transaction was determined to be an acquisition of assets, not a business combination.
Under the terms of the transfer, the Company will provide application
design, development and maintenance services to such major financial services company through an acquired workforce of approximately 300 IT and
support professionals located primarily in the United States and India.
Amortization of $178, related to the acquisition of these assets, has been
included in the Consolidated Statements of Operations for the two-month
period ended December 31, 2002. Such net assets have been included as
intangible assets in the Consolidated Balance Sheets and as identifiable
assets in the North American segment in Note 12.
Since the transfer was effected on October 29, 2002, the operating results of
this transfer have been included in the consolidated financial statements of
the Company commencing from that date.
The operating results of UHCI and Silverline, for the periods included indicated above, were not material to the consolidated operating results of the
Company for the year ended December 31, 2002.
Customer Relationship
Assembled Workforce
Fixed Assets
Purchase Price
(Incl. Deal costs)

UHCI

Useful Life

Silverline

Useful Life

$2,577
195
271
$3,043

10 years
5 years
3-5 years

$9,515
909
$10,424

10 years
8 years
-
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The purchase price for UHCI and Silverline’s financial services company
practice was allocated to the following tangible and intangibles assets and is
being amortized over the useful lives indicated below:

compensation, which is matched by an equal contribution by CTS India.
Contribution expense recognized was $928, $790, and $501 for the years
ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.

The estimated aggregate amortization expense for intangible assets for each
of the succeeding five fiscal years is; 2003 through 2006: $1,362, 2007:
$1,342.

CTS India also maintains a statutory gratuity plan that is a statutory postemployment benefit plan providing defined lump sum benefits. CTS India makes
annual contributions to an employees’ gratuity fund established with a government-owned insurance corporation to fund a portion of the estimated
obligation. The Company estimates its obligation based upon employees’
salary and years of service. Expense recognized by the Company was $752,
$902, and $511 for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000,
respectively.

In June 2000, the Company announced a strategic relationship with Trident
Capital, a leading venture capital firm, to jointly invest in emerging e-business service and technology companies. In accordance with this strategy, the
Company invested $1,955 in Questra Corporation (“Questra”), an e-business
software and consulting firm headquartered in Rochester, New York, in
return for a 5.8% equity interest. Trident Capital also independently made a
direct investment in Questra. The Company’s investment is being accounted
for under the cost basis of accounting.
The Company reviews for impairment certain assets whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may
not be recoverable. In the fourth quarter of 2001, Questra issued Preferred B
shares in exchange for $19 million of new venture capital financing. Since
the Company did not participate, its ownership interest in Preferred A shares
was reduced from 5.8% to 2.1%. Based on the implied fair value of Questra,
as measured by the latest round of financing, and considering the preferential liquidation rights that the Preferred B shareholders received, the
Company has concluded that it will not recover its investment in Questra and
has recorded an impairment loss of $1,955 to recognize the other than
temporary decline in value of its investment.

5. Employee Benefits
Beginning in 1997, certain U.S. employees of the Company were eligible to
participate in Cognizant Corporation’s and now IMS Health’s 401(k) plan.
The Company matches up to 50.0% of the eligible employee’s contribution.
The amount charged to expense for the Company’s matching contribution
was $0, $0, and $31 for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000,
respectively. In 2000, the Company established a 401(k) plan, which certain
U.S. employees of the Company became eligible to participate in. The
Company matches up to 50.0% of the eligible employee's contribution. The
amount charged to expense for the matching contribution was $479, $351
and $195 for the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2001 and 2000,
respectively.
Certain of the Company’s employees participate in IMS Health’s defined benefit pension plan and a defined contribution plan in the United Kingdom and
Ireland sponsored by the Company. The costs to the Company recognized as
postretirement benefit costs and related liabilities were not material to the
Company’s results of operations or financial position for the years presented.
(See Note 9 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.)

6. Income Taxes
Income before provision for income taxes consisted of the following for years
ended December 31:
2002

U.S.
Non-U.S.
Total

$ 11,892
33,199
$ 45,091

2001

$

7,236
28,163
$ 35,399

2000

$

7,469
20,778
$ 28,247

The provision (benefit) for income taxes consists of the following for the
years ended December 31:
2002

U.S. Federal and state:
Current
Deferred
Total U.S. Federal and state
Non-U.S.:
Current
Deferred
Total non-U.S.
Total

2001

$ 6,292
1,565
7,857

$

2,986
8,620
11,606

2,432
240
2,672
$ 10,529

1,466
167
1,633
$ 13,239

2000

$

3,276
6,409
9,685

961
(82)
879
$ 10,564

The following table sets forth the significant differences between the U.S.
federal statutory taxes and the Company’s provision for income taxes for
consolidated financial statement purposes:
2002

Tax expense at U.S. Federal
statutory rate
$ 15,782
State and local income taxes,
net of Federal benefit
867
Non-deductible Goodwill amortization
0
Rate differential on foreign earnings (7,544)
Other
1,424
Total income taxes
$ 10,529

2001

2000

$ 12,390

$ 9,604

361
111
–
377
$ 13,239

375
108
–
477
$ 10,564

CTS India maintains an employee benefit plan that covers substantially all
India-based employees. The employees’ provident fund, pension and family
pension plans are statutory defined contribution retirement benefit plans.
Under the plans, employees contribute up to twelve percent of their base
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The Company’s deferred tax assets (liabilities) are comprised of the following
at December 31:
Deferred tax assets:
Timing differences
Net deferred tax assets
Deferred tax liabilities:
Undistributed Indian income
Total deferred tax liabilities
Net deferred tax liability

$

2002

2001

430
430

$ 1,042
1,042

(24,935)
(24,935)
$(24,505)

(25,535)
(25,535)
$ (24,493)

Cognizant has generated net operating losses for U.S. tax purposes of
approximately $8.6 million. These losses have an expiration date for Federal
purposes through 12/31/22. For state purposes, the date of expiration
varies but will generally be less than the Federal expiration period.
Cognizant’s Indian subsidiary, CTS India, is an export-oriented company,
which, under the Indian Income Tax Act of 1961 is entitled to claim tax holidays for a period of ten years with respect to its export profits. Substantially
all of the earnings of CTS India are attributable to export profits and are
therefore currently entitled to a 90% exemption from Indian income tax.
These tax holidays will begin to expire in 2004 and under current law will be
completely phased out by March of 2009. Prior to 2002, it was management’s intent to repatriate all accumulated earnings from India to the United
States; accordingly, Cognizant has provided deferred income taxes in the
amount of approximately $24,935 on all such undistributed earnings
through December 31, 2001. During the first quarter of 2002, Cognizant
made a strategic decision to pursue an international strategy that includes
expanded infrastructure investments in India and geographic expansion in
Europe and Asia. As a component of this strategy, Cognizant intends to use
2002 and future Indian earnings to expand operations outside of the United
States instead of repatriating these earnings to the United States.
Accordingly, effective January 1, 2002, pursuant to Accounting Principles
Bulletin 23, Cognizant will no longer accrue taxes on the repatriation of
earnings recognized in 2002 and subsequent periods as these earnings are
considered to be indefinitely reinvested outside of the United States. As of
December 31, 2002, the amount of unrepatriated earnings upon which no
provision for taxation has been recorded is approximately $30,059. If such
earnings are repatriated in the future, or are no longer deemed to be indefinitely reinvested, Cognizant will accrue the applicable amount of taxes
associated with such earnings. Due to the various methods by which such
earnings could be repatriated in the future, it is not currently practicable to
determine the amount of applicable taxes that would result from such
repatriation.
This change in intent, as well as a change in the manner in which repatriated
earnings are taxed in India, resulted in an estimated effective tax rate for
the year ended December 31, 2002 of 23.4%. This rate compares to an effective tax rate for the year ended December 31, 2001 of 37.4%.
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Deferred U.S. income taxes on unremitted earnings from other foreign entities have not been provided for as it is the Company’s intent to reinvest such
earnings. Such income taxes are immaterial.

7. Capital Stock
On June 24, 1998, the Company consummated its IPO of 17,502,000 shares
of its Class A common stock at a price of $1.67 per share, 15,000,000 of
which were issued and sold by the Company and 2,502,000 of which were
sold by Cognizant Corporation, the Company’s then majority owner and controlling parent company. The net proceeds to the Company from the IPO were
approximately $22,407 after $843 of direct expenses. In July 1998, IMS
Health (the accounting successor to Cognizant Corporation) sold 2,625,300
shares of Class B common stock, which were converted to Class A common
stock pursuant to an over allotment option granted to the underwriters of
the IPO. Of the total net proceeds received by the Company upon the consummation of its IPO, approximately $6,637 was used to repay the related
party balance then owed to Cognizant Corporation. The related party balance
resulted from certain advances to the Company from Cognizant Corporation
used to purchase the minority interest of the Company’s Indian subsidiary
and to fund payroll and accounts payable. Concurrent with the IPO, the
Company reclassified the amounts in mandatorily redeemable common stock
to stockholders’ equity as the redemption feature was voided.
On June 12, 1998, the Company amended and restated its certificate of
incorporation to authorize 100,000,000 shares of Class A common stock, par
value $.01 per share, 15,000,000 shares of Class B common stock, par value
$.01 per share, and 15,000,000 shares of preferred stock, par value $.10 per
share, and effected a 0.65 for one reverse stock split. Holders of Class A
common stock have one vote per share and holders of Class B common stock
have ten votes per share. (See Note 13 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements). No preferred stock has been issued.
On May 23, 2000, the stockholders of the Company approved an increase in
the number of authorized Class B common Stock from 15,000,000 shares to
25,000,000 shares.
At December 31, 2002, IMS Health owned 55.3% of the outstanding stock of
Cognizant (representing all of Cognizant’s Class B common stock) and held
92.5% of the combined voting power of Cognizant’s common stock. Holders
of Cognizant’s Class A common stock have one vote per share and holders of
Cognizant’s Class B common stock have ten votes per share. (See Note 13 to
the Consolidated Financial Statements.)
On January 30, 2003, the Company filed a tender offer in which IMS Health
shareholders could exchange IMS Health shares held by them for Cognizant
Class B common stock held by IMS Health. There will be no impact on the
number of Cognizant’s total shares outstanding upon the completion of the
exchange offer. As a direct result of the IMS Health exchange offer,
Cognizant has incurred charges in the fourth quarter of 2002 of $1.7 million
related to direct and incremental legal, accounting, printing and other costs.
On February 13, 2003, IMS Health completed its plan to distribute all of the
Cognizant Class B common stock that IMS Health owned in an exchange
offer. There is no impact on the number of Cognizant's total shares outstanding as a result of the completion of the exchange offer. As of February
21, 2003, pursuant to the Company’s Restated Certificate of Incorporation,
all 33,872,700 shares of Class B common stock converted into shares of Class
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A common stock. Accordingly, as of such date, there are no shares of Class B
common stock outstanding and the share and equity balances that relate to
Class B common stock will be reclassed to the share and equity balances of
Class A common stock.
The conversion of Class B common stock to Class A common stock has not
been reflected in the accompanying financial statements and all applicable
references to the number of outstanding Class A and Class B common stock,
as well as IMS Health’s ownership interest have not been restated to reflect
the exchange offer. Stockholders’ equity accounts will subsequently be
restated to reflect the reclassification of the share and equity balances that
relate to Class B common stock to the share and equity balances of Class A
common stock.
On March 5, 2003, the Board of Directors declared a 3-for-1 stock split of
Class A common stock effected by a 200% stock dividend payable on April 1,
2003 to stockholders of record on March 19, 2003. The stock split has been
reflected in the financial statements, and all applicable references to the
number of outstanding common shares and per share information has been
restated. Appropriate adjustments have been made in the exercise price and
number of shares subject to stock options. Stockholders’ equity account have
been restated to reflect the reclassification of an amount equal to the par
value of the increase in issued common shares from the additional paid in
capital account to the common stock accounts.

8. Employee Stock-Based Compensation Plans
In July 1997, CTS adopted a Key Employees Stock Option Plan, which provides for the grant of up to 4,192,500 stock options (each option exercisable
into one (1) share of the Company’s Class A common stock.) to eligible
employees. Options granted under this plan may not be granted at an exercise price less than fair market value of the underlying shares on the date of
grant. As a result of the IPO, all options have a life of ten years, vest proportionally over four years and have an exercise price equal to the fair market
value of the common stock on the grant date.
In December 1997, CTS adopted a Non-Employee Directors’ Stock Option
Plan, which provides for the grant of up to 429,000 stock options (each
option exercisable into one (1) share of the Company’s Class A common
stock.) to eligible directors. Options granted under this plan may not be
granted at an exercise price less than fair market value of the underlying
shares on the date of grant. As a result of the IPO, all options have a life
of ten years, vest proportionally over two years and have an exercise price
equal to the fair market value of the common stock on the grant date.
In March 1998, CTS granted non-qualified stock options to purchase an
aggregate of 292,500 shares of Class A common stock to CTS’s Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer at an exercise price of $4.61 per share, an amount
less than the then fair market value of the underlying shares on the date of
the grant. The Company has recorded the related compensation expense over
the vesting period of these options.

In May 1999, CTS adopted the 1999 Incentive Compensation Plan, which provides for the grant of up to 6,000,000 stock options (each option exercisable
into one (1) share of the Company’s Class A common stock) to eligible
employees, nonemployee Directors and independent contractors. Options
granted under this plan may not be granted at an exercise price less than
fair market value of the underlying shares on the date of grant. All options
have a life of ten years, vest proportionally over four years, unless specified
otherwise, and have an exercise price equal to the fair market value of the
common stock on the grant date. On May 23, 2000, the stockholders of the
Company approved an increase in the number of shares available for issuance
under this plan from 6,000,000 to 9,000,000 shares. On May 30, 2001, the
stockholders of the Company approved an increase in the number of shares
available for issuance under this plan from 9,000,000 to 18,000,000.
In May 1999, CTS adopted the Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the “Purchase
Plan”), which provides for the issuance of up to 2,400,000 shares of CTS
Class A common stock to eligible employees. The Purchase Plan provides for
eligible employees to designate in advance of specified purchase periods a
percentage of compensation to be withheld from their pay and applied
toward the purchase of such number of whole shares of Class A common
stock as can be purchased at a price of 90% of the lesser of (a) the fair
market value of a share of Class A common stock on the first date of the purchase period; or (b) the fair market value of a share of Class A common stock
on the last date of the purchase period. No employee can purchase more
than $25,000 worth of stock annually, and no stock can be purchased by any
person which would result in the purchaser owning more than five percent
or more of the total combined voting power or value of all classes of stock
of the Company. In accordance with APB 25, no compensation expense was
recorded in connection with the purchase of shares by employees.
During the year ended December 31, 2002, approximately 84,000 shares of
Class A common stock were purchased by employees under the Purchase
Plan. At December 31, 2002, there were approximate 2,125,815 shares
available for future issuance under the Purchase Plan.
A summary of the Company’s stock option activity, and related information is
as follows as of December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000:
2002
Weighted
Average
Exercise
Shares
Price

Outstanding
at beginning
of year
12,916,623
Granted, 1999
Incentive
Comp. Plan
2,077,500
Exercised
(3,112,770)
Cancelled
(444,000)
Expired
(8,700)
Outstanding
- end of year 11,428,653
Exercisable
- end of year 3,643,734

2001
Weighted
Average
Exercise
Shares
Price

2000
Weighted
Average
Exercise
Shares
Price

$ 8.03 11,043,936 $ 6.30 7,655,424 $ 2.79

$15.07 4,624,800 $10.57 4,224,000 $12.53
$ 6.08 (1,998,057) $ 2.57 (389,604) $ 2.00
$12.14 (715,056) $12.52 (443,634) $ 8.81
$14.44
(39,000) $ 17.90
(2,250) $ 4.07
$ 9.67 12,916,623 $ 8.03 11,043,936 $ 6.30
$ 6.84 3,577,530 $ 4.66 2,869,824 $ 1.94
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At December 31, 2002, 5,182,293 options (each option exercisable into one
(1) share of the Company’s Class A common stock) were available for future
issuance under the Company’s option plans.
The following summarizes information about the Company’s stock options
outstanding and exercisable by price range at December 31, 2002:
Options Outstanding
Weighted Average
Range of
Remaining
Exercise
Number Contractual Life
Prices
Outstanding
in Years
$0.64 - $0.64
371,700
4.6 Years
$1.15 - $1.67
277,590
5.3 Years
$1.81 - $2.69
21,000
5.7 Years
$3.67 - $5.10
2,562,771
6.4 Years
$6.93 - $10.31 2,777,760
8.3 Years
$10.50 - $15.17 3,850,932
8.2 Years
$15.97 - $22.92 1,566,900
9.2 Years
Total
11,428,653
7.8 Years

Options Exercisable
Weighted
Weighted
Average
Average
Exercise
Exercise
Price
Options
Price
$ 0.64
371,700
$ 0.64
$ 1.39
277,590
$ 1.39
$ 2.19
21,000
$ 2.19
$ 4.11 1,506,927
$ 4.10
$ 9.38
406,335
$ 9.41
$ 12.04
838,482
$ 11.88
$ 17.17
221,700
$ 19.27
$ 9.67 3,643,734
$ 6.84

Compensation cost recognized by the Company under APB 25 was $0, $11,
and $35 for 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.
Had compensation cost for the Company’s stock-based compensation plans,
as well as the IMS Health options held by certain executive officers (See
Note 9 to the Consolidated Financial Statements), been determined based on
the fair value at the grant dates for awards under those plans, consistent
with the method prescribed by SFAS No. 123, the Company’s net income and
net income per share would have been reduced to the pro forma amounts
indicated below:
December 31,

Net income, as reported
Deduct Total stock-based compensation
expense determined under the fair
value method for all awards, net of
related tax benefits
Pro forma net income
Earnings per share:
Net income, as reported-basic
Pro forma-basic
Net income, as reported-diluted
Pro forma-diluted

2002

2001

2000

$34,562

$22,160

$17,683

11,562
$23,000

7,127
$15,033

4,868
$12,815

$0.58
$0.39
$0.54
$0.36

$0.39
$0.26
$0.36
$0.25

$0.32
$0.23
$0.29
$0.21

The pro forma disclosures shown above are not representative of the effects
on net income and earnings per share in future years.
For purposes of pro forma disclosures only, the fair value for all Company
options was estimated at the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option
model with the following weighted average assumptions in 2002: risk-free
interest rate of 2.71%, expected dividend yield of 0.0%, expected volatility
of 65% and weighted average expected life of 2.9 years. 2001 assumptions;
risk-free interest rate of 4.3%, expected dividend yield of 0.0%, expected
volatility of 78% and weighted average expected life of 3.0 years. 2000
assumptions; risk-free interest rate of 6.1%, expected dividend yield of
0.0%, expected volatility of 75% and expected life of 3.9 years. The weight-
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ed-average fair value of the Company’s options granted during 2002, 2001
and 2000 was $6.68, $5.56, and $7.24, respectively.

9. Related Party Transactions and Transactions
with Affiliates
Revenues. The Company and IMS Health have entered into Master Services
Agreements pursuant to which the Company provides certain IT services to
IMS Health. The Company recognized related party revenues from IMS Health
totaling $20,429 and $18,809 in 2002 and 2001, respectively. In 2000, the
Company recognized related party revenues totaling $14,273, including
revenues from IMS Health and Strategic Technologies, a then affiliated
subsidiary, (through August 30, 2000).
Affiliated Agreements. In 1997, the Company entered into various agreements with Cognizant Corporation, which were assigned to IMS Health as
part of the 1998 Reorganization. The agreements included an Intercompany
Services Agreement for services provided by IMS Health such as payroll and
payables processing, tax, real estate and risk management services, a
License Agreement to use the “Cognizant” trade name and an Intercompany
Agreement. On July 1, 1998, IMS Health transferred all of its rights to the
“Cognizant” name and related trade and service marks to the Company.
Services. In 2002 and 2001, IMS Health provided the Company with certain
administrative services, including payroll and payables processing and permitted the Company to participate in IMS Health’s business insurance plans.
In prior periods, IMS Health provided certain other services such as tax planning and compliance, which have now been transitioned to the Company. All
services were performed under the CTS/IMS Health intercompany services
agreement. Total costs charged to the Company by IMS Health in connection
with these services were $656, $440 and $254 for the years ended December
31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.
In December 2001, the Company paid IMS Health a one-time fee of approximately $825 under an alliance agreement in which the Company was named
“vendor of choice” for IT services to the pharmaceutical industry.
In addition, the Company has a certain relationship with the former Erisco
Managed Care Technologies (“Erisco”), which is now a wholly owned subsidiary of The Trizetto Group, Inc. (“Trizetto”). As of December 31, 2002, IMS
Health owned approximately 26.4% of the outstanding common stock of
Trizetto. During 2002 and 2001, the Company recorded revenues from Erisco
of approximately $2,577 and $401, respectively and payments to Erisco for
commissions and marketing fees of approximately $697 and $1,012, respectively.
Pension Plans. Certain U.S. employees of the Company participated in IMS
Health's defined benefit pension plans. The plans are cash balance pension
plans under which six percent of creditable compensation plus interest is
credited to the employee’s retirement account on a monthly basis. The cash
balance earns monthly investment credits based on the 30-year Treasury
bond yield. At the time of retirement, the vested employee's account balance
is actuarially converted into an annuity. The Company’s cost for these plans
is included in the allocation of expense from IMS Health for employee benefits plans.
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Stock Options. In November 1996, in consideration for services to the
Company, Cognizant Corporation granted an executive officer and director
of the Company options to purchase an aggregate of 114,900 shares (on a
pre-split basis) of the common stock of Cognizant Corporation at an exercise
price of $33.38 per share. Such executive officer and director agreed to forfeit options to purchase 58,334 shares (on a pre-split basis) of Cognizant
Corporation common stock upon the consummation of the Company's initial
public offering. In July 1998, IMS Health granted an executive officer
options to purchase an aggregate of 8,158 shares (on a pre-split basis) of
the common stock of IMS Health at an exercise price of $30.17 per share.
All remaining such options have since been converted into options to purchase the common stock of IMS Health as a result of the Reorganization that
occurred on July 1, 1998, the two-for-one split of IMS Health stock that
occurred on January 15, 1999, the distribution of Gartner Group shares that
occurred on July 26, 1999 and the distribution of Synavant Inc. (formerly
known as Strategic Technologies) shares that occurred on August 30, 2000.
At December 31, 2002 after adjusting for the Reorganization, the split of IMS
Health’s stock and the distribution of Gartner Group and Synavant Inc.
shares, such officer had 172,297 options in IMS Health outstanding at a
weighted average exercise price of $15.96 per share. At December 31, 2002,
172,297 options were exercisable.
In November 1996, Cognizant Corporation granted an executive officer
options to purchase an aggregate of 60,000 shares (on a pre-split basis) of
the common stock of Cognizant Corporation at an exercise price of $33.38
per share. In addition, in November 1996, such executive officer was granted
options to purchase an aggregate of 20,000 shares (on a pre-split basis) of
the common stock of Cognizant Corporation at an exercise price of $33.38
per share, which was equal to the fair market value at the grant date, by
paying ten percent of the option exercise price as an advance payment
toward such exercise. The unvested portion of such advance payment is
refundable under certain conditions. The remaining 90 percent is payable at
exercise. In July 1998, IMS Health granted an executive officer options to
purchase an aggregate of 9,106 shares (on a pre-split basis) of the common
stock of IMS Health at an exercise price of $30.17 per share. All remaining
such options have since been converted into options to purchase the common stock of IMS Health as a result of the Reorganization, the two-for-one
split of IMS Health stock, the distribution of Gartner Group and Synavant
Inc. shares discussed above. At December 31, 2002, after adjusting for the
Reorganization, the split of IMS Health’s stock and the distribution of
Gartner Group and Synavant Inc. shares, such officer had 127,379 options in
IMS Health outstanding at a weighted average exercise price of $15.96 per
share. At December 31, 2002, 127,379 options were exercisable.

10. Commitments
As of December 31, 2002, the Company has entered into fixed capital
commitments related to its India development center expansion program of
approximately $28.8 million, of which $19.2 million has been spent as of
December 31, 2002.

The Company leases office space and equipment under operating leases,
which expire at various dates through the year 2011. Certain leases contain
renewal provisions and generally require the Company to pay utilities, insurance, taxes, and other operating expenses. Future minimum rental payments
under operating leases that have initial or remaining lease terms in excess of
one year as of December 31, 2002 are as follows:

2003
2004
2005
2006
2007
Thereafter
Total minimum lease payments

$5,799
3,829
2,229
1,755
1,252
2,090
$16,954

Rental expense totaled $5,201, $3,175 and $3,472 for years ended December
31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.

11. Contingencies
The Company is involved in various claims and legal actions arising in the
ordinary course of business. In the opinion of management, the outcome of
such claims and legal actions, if decided adversely, is not expected to have a
material adverse effect on the Company’s business, financial condition and
results of operations. Additionally, many of the Company’s engagements
involve projects that are critical to the operations of its customers’ business
and provide benefits that are difficult to quantify. Any failure in a customer's
computer system could result in a claim for substantial damages against the
Company, regardless of the Company’s responsibility for such failure.
Although the Company attempts to contractually limit its liability for damages arising from negligent acts, errors, mistakes, or omissions in rendering
its software development and maintenance services, there can be no assurance that the limitations of liability set forth in its contracts will be enforceable in all instances or will otherwise protect the Company from liability for
damages. Although the Company has general liability insurance coverage,
including coverage for errors or omissions, there can be no assurance that
such coverage will continue to be available on reasonable terms or will be
available in sufficient amounts to cover one or more large claims, or that the
insurer will not disclaim coverage as to any future claim. The successful
assertion of one or more large claims against the Company that exceed
available insurance coverage or changes in the Company’s insurance policies,
including premium increases or the imposition of large deductible or coinsurance requirements, would have a material adverse effect on the
Company’s business, results of operations and financial condition.

12. Segment Information
The Company, operating globally, provides software services for medium and
large businesses. North American operations consist primarily of software
services in the United States and Canada. European operations consist of
software services principally in the United Kingdom and Ireland. Asian
operations consist of software services principally in India. The Company is
managed on a geographic basis. Accordingly, regional sales managers, sales
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managers, account managers, project teams and facilities are segmented
geographically and decisions by the Company’s chief operating decision
maker regarding the allocation of assets and assessment of performance are
based on such geographic segmentation.
In accordance with SFAS No. 131, “Disclosures About Segments of an
Enterprise and Related Information.” Information about the Company’s
operations and total assets in North America, Europe and Asia for the years
ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000 are as follows:
December 31,
2002

2001

2000

Revenues(1)(1a)
North America(2)
Europe(3)
Asia
Consolidated

$199,605
27,886
1,595
$229,086

$ 151,933
24,221
1,624
$ 177,778

$ 114,932
20,959
1,140
$ 137,031

Operating income(1)
North America(2)
Europe(3)
Asia
Consolidated

$ 39,380
5,503
315
$ 45,198

$ 30,435
4,860
325
$ 35,620

$ 21,918
3,994
216
$ 26,128

Identifiable assets
North America(2)
Europe(4)
Asia
Consolidated

$133,417
12,972
85,083
$231,473

$ 88,328
5,322
51,333
$ 144,983

$ 71,464
7,293
30,783
$ 109,540

(1) Revenues and resulting operating income are attributed to regions based upon
customer location.

21, 2003, pursuant to the Company’s Restated Certificate of Incorporation,
all 33,872,700 shares of Class B common stock converted into shares of Class
A common stock. Accordingly, as of such date, there are no shares of Class B
common stock outstanding. The conversion of Class B common stock to Class
A common stock has not been reflected in the accompanying financial statements and all applicable references to the number of outstanding Class A
and Class B common stock, as well as IMS Health’s ownership interest have
not been restated to reflect the conversion of Class B common stock to Class
A common stock. Stockholders’ equity accounts will subsequently be restated
to reflect the exchange offer.
In connection with the exchange offer, IMS Health, as the Company’s then
majority shareholder, approved amendments to Cognizant’s certificate of
incorporation that became effective following consummation of the
exchange offer. The material terms of these amendments:
•provide for a classified board of directors;
•set the number of Cognizant’s directors; and
•provide for supermajority approval requirements for actions to amend,
alter, change, add to or repeal specified provisions of Cognizant’s certificate
of incorporation and any provision of the by-laws.
In connection with the exchange offer, Cognizant’s Board of Directors also
approved amendments to Cognizant’s by-laws, which became effective
following completion of the exchange offer. The material terms of these
amendments made to Cognizant’s by-laws affect nominations of persons for
election to the Board of Directors and proposals of business at annual or
special meeting of stockholders. Cognizant’s Board of Directors also adopted
a stockholders rights plan providing certain rights to stockholders under
certain circumstances.
Additionally, the Company amended existing agreements with IMS Health
which included:

(1a) Application development and integration services represented approximately
46.1%, 42.9% and 42.7% of revenues in 2000, 2001 and 2002, respectively.
Application maintenance services accounted for 47.0%, 51.8% and 57.3% of revenues
in 2000, 2001, and 2002, respectively.
(2) Substantially all relates to operations in the United States.
(3) Includes revenue from operations in the United Kingdom of $13,718, $19,895 and
$25,785 in 2000, 2001 and 2002, respectively.
(4) Includes identifiable assets in the United Kingdom of $3,325, $5,269 and $9,610 in
2001, 2001 and 2002, respectively.

No third party customer accounted for sales in excess of 10% of revenues in
2002, 2001 and 2000. For statement of operations purposes, revenues from
related parties only include revenues recognized during the period in which
the related party was affiliated with the Company.

13. Subsequent Event – IMS Health Exchange Offer
On February 13, 2003, IMS Health completed its plan to distribute all of the
Cognizant Class B common stock that IMS Health owned in an exchange
offer. There is no impact on the number of Cognizant’s total shares outstanding as a result of the completion of the exchange offer. As of February
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•an amended and restated Intercompany Services Agreement, which provides for the continued provision of payroll, payables processing and certain
other administrative services for a term of up to one year; and
•a Master Services Agreements pursuant to which the Company continues to
provides IT services to IMS Health on terms that are comparable to unrelated
third parties;
The Company also entered into a Distribution Agreement, dated January 7,
2003, with IMS Health (the “Distribution Agreement”), the terms of which
were approved by a special committee of the Board of Directors of the
Company, which was comprised of the Company’s independent directors.
The Distribution Agreement sets forth certain rights and obligations of IMS
Health and the Company in respect of the exchange offer in addition to
those provided in the Intercompany Services Agreement. The material terms
of the Distribution Agreement include:
•the resignation of David M. Thomas and Nancy E. Cooper from any boards
of directors of the Company’s subsidiaries on which they served;
•indemnification provisions in respect of the respective disclosure in the
exchange offer documents, the conduct of the exchange offer and any
failure to perform the Distribution Agreement;

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(in thousands, except share and per share data)
•the agreement of the Company to undertake to be jointly and severally
liable to certain of IMS Health’s prior affiliates for liabilities arising out of or
in connection with IMS Health’s business and the businesses of the Company
and other successors to the businesses of Cognizant Corporation in accordance with the terms of the Distribution Agreement dated as of October 28,
1996, among Cognizant Corporation, which has been renamed Nielsen Media
Research, Inc., The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation, which has been renamed
the R.H. Donnelly Corporation and ACNielsen Corporation and related agreements. However, subject to the general allocation of liabilities arising from
the respective businesses of IMS Health and the Company, IMS Health has
agreed to indemnify and reimburse the Company for liabilities incurred with
respect to these undertakings;
•the continuation of certain commercial relationships between the companies for a period of at least three years; and
•provisions governing the administration of certain insurance programs and
procedures for making claims.
The Distribution Agreement also provides that IMS Health and the Company
will comply with, and not take any action during the relevant time period
that is inconsistent with, the representations made to and relied upon by
McDermott, Will & Emery in connection with rendering its opinion regarding
the U.S. federal income tax consequences of the exchange offer. In addition,
pursuant to the Distribution Agreement, the Company indemnifies IMS
Health for any tax liability to which they may be subject as a result of the
exchange offer but only to the extent that such tax liability resulted solely
from a breach in the representations the Company made to and were relied
upon by McDermott, Will & Emery in connection with rendering its opinion
regarding the U.S. federal income tax consequences of the exchange offer.
This indemnification liability could be material to the Company’s quarterly
and annual operating results, financial position and cash flows.

Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)
Three Months Ended

2002
Operating Revenue
Gross Profit
Income from
Operations
Net Income
Earnings Per Share
of Common Stock
Basic
Diluted

March 31

June 30

$46,484
$22,295

$54,358
$25,010

$61,233 $67,011 $229,086
$28,263 $30,817 $106,385

Sept. 30

$9,146
$7,109

$10,702
$8,647

$12,108 $13,242 $45,198
$9,667 $9,139(1) $34,562(1)

$0.12
$0.12

$0.15
$0.14

2001

March 31

June 30

Operating Revenue
Gross Profit
Income from
Operations
Net Income
Earnings Per Share
of Common Stock
Basic
Diluted

$43,404
$21,035

$45,411
$22,030

$8,389
$5,565

$8,874
$5,847

$9,323
$6,108

$9,034
$4,640

$0.10
$0.09

$0.10
$0.10

$0.11
$0.10

$0.08
$0.08

$0.16
$0.15

Dec.31

$0.15
$0.14

Full Year

$0.58
$0.54(2)

Three Months Ended
Sept. 30

Dec. 31

Full Year

$45,502 $43,461 $177,778
$22,393 $21,472 $86,930
$35,620
$22,160

$0.39
$0.36(2)

(1) Includes split-off costs of $1,700, net of tax.
(2) The sum of the quarterly earnings per share does not equal full year earnings per
share due to rounding.

14. Subsequent Event - Stock Split
On March 5, 2003, the Board of Directors declared a 3-for-1 stock split
effected by a 200% stock dividend payable on April 1, 2003 to stockholders
of record on March 19, 2003. The stock split has been reflected in the
accompanying financial statements, and all applicable references as to the
number of outstanding common shares and per share information have been
restated. Appropriate adjustments have been made in the exercise price and
number of shares subject to stock options. Stockholders’ equity accounts
have been restated to reflect the reclassification of an amount equal to the
par value of the increase in issued common shares from the additional paid
in capital account to the common stock accounts.
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Selected Consolidated Financial Data

The following table sets forth selected consolidated historical financial data
of the Company as of the dates and for the periods indicated. The selected
consolidated financial data set forth below for the Company as of December
31, 2001 and 2002 and for each of the three years in the period ended
December 31, 2002 has been derived from the audited financial statements
included elsewhere herein. The selected consolidated financial data set forth
below for the Company as of December 31, 1998, 1999 and 2000 and for

each of the years ended December 31, 1998 and 1999 are derived from the
audited financial statements not included elsewhere herein. The selected
consolidated financial information for 2000, 2001 and 2002 should be read
in conjunction with the Consolidated Financial Statements and the Notes and
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations” which are included elsewhere in this Annual Report.

Year Ended December 31,
(in thousands, except per share data)

Consolidated Statement of Operations Data:
Revenues
Revenues - related party
Total revenues
Cost of revenues
Gross profit
Selling, general and administrative expenses

1998

$

Depreciation and amortization expense
Income from operations
Other income (expense):
Interest income
Split-off costs
Impairment loss on investment
Other income (expense) - net
Total other income (expense)
Income before provision for income taxes
Provision for income taxes
Net income
Net income per share, basic
Net income per share, diluted
Weighted average number of common shares outstanding
Weighted average number of common shares
and stock options outstanding
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position Data:
Cash and cash equivalents
Working capital
Total assets
Due to related party

$

2,222
8,918

3,037
16,645

638
–
–
83
721

1,263
–
–
37
1,300

9,639
(3,606)
6,033
0.13
0.12
47,658

$
$
$

49,614

$

74,084
14,820
88,904
46,161
42,743
23,061

28,418
29,416
51,679
9
32,616

17,945
(6,711)
11,234
0.20
0.19
55,026

$

$
$
$

58,248

$

42,641
43,507
69,026
–
45,461

2000

2001

2002

122,758
14,273
137,031
70,437
66,594
35,959

$ 158,969
18,809
177,778
90,848
86,930
44,942

$ 208,657
20,429
229,086
122,701
106,385
53,345

4,507
26,128

6,368
35,620

7,842
45,198

2,649
–
–
(530)
2,119

2,501
–
(1,955)
(767)
(221)

1,808
(1,680)
–
(235)
(107)

28,247
(10,564)
17,683
0.32
0.29
55,695

35,399
(13,239)
$ 22,160
$
0.39
$
0.36
57,051

45,091
(10,529)
$ 34,562
$
0.58
$
0.54
59,241

60,768

$

61,976
61,501
109,540
8
66,116

$

61,113

63,693

84,977
95,637
144,983
–

$ 126,211
134,347
231,473
–

98,792

165,481

galperin design, inc., nyc

Stockholders’ equity

$
$
$

45,031
13,575
58,606
31,919
26,687
15,547

1999
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